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HISTORY OF SUSSEX.

JEVINGTON.

A parish in the Hundred of Willingdon ; Rape of Pevensey ; distantfive
miles south-west from Hailsham, and about the same distance from
Eastbourne. Post-town, Eastbourne. Railway station, Polegate,
distant about two miles. Union, Eastbourne. Population in 1811,
280; in 1861, 263. Benefice, a Rectory, valued at £400; Patron, the
Duke of Devonshire; Incumbent, Rev. H. T. Grace, M.A., of Pem-
broke College, Cambridge. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1661.
Acreage, 2,099,

This parish lies wholly on the South Downs, and the village,-
though in a valley, occupies a lofty site, the wells being.alimost

- 200 feet deep. Its aspect is highly romantic, and the Downs

> are seen in perfection. Harewick or Harrick Bottom (perhaps

from the Anglo-Saxon 4ere and wic—the stronghold of an army)

4 has conspicuous marks of an ancient camp. The manor has

been successively in the families of St. Clere, Parker, and

- Spencer, Earl of Wilmington. From the last-mentioned it has

5. Passed to the Duke of Devonshire. Jevington Rectory is also a

o. manor. The manor-house has some marks of antiquity. Wan-

. nock was the seat of the family of Rochester, and at Filching

there is a fine old timbered house. James Lambert, the well-

known local artist, who so copiously illustrated the researches of

g ir William Burrell, was born at Jevington in 1725. (“Sussex
~ Worthies,” p. 89.)

The church (St. Andrew) has a mnave, with north aisle and
chancel. A massive square tower at the west end has ve
ancient, and I think, pre-Norman, features. Affixed tothe east
wall of the tower, inside, is a very rude early carving, about two

eet in height, representing our Saviour bruising the head of the
serpent—probably Anglo-Saxon art. There are memorials for
the names of Markwick, Eversfield, Rochester, Manningham,
Collier, &e. One of the bells is inscribed to St. Katherine.

'[8. A. C. Manor-rents, xiv, 263. Filching stream, xv, 157. Bells,
xvi, 215.]
VOL. II. B
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KEYMER.

Domesday, Chemer ; vulgo, Kymer; a parish in the Hundred of Butting-
hill; Rape of Lewes ; distant ten miles north from Brighton. Post-
town, Hurst-Pierpoint. It has two stations of the Brighton and South
Coast railway, viz., Hassock’s Gate and Burgess Hill. Union, Cuck-
field. Population in 1811, 536 ; at present, upwards of 2,000. Bene-

- fice, a Perpetual Curacy annexed to the rectory of Clayton ; Patron,
Brasenose College; Incumbent, the Ven. James Garbett, M.A.,
Archdeacon of Chichester. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1601 ;
Acreage, 8,538.

This formerly obscure little village has risen, in conse-
quence of railway communication between London and Brighton,
to be a place of rising population and importance. The prin-
cipal points are St. John’s Common and Burgess-hill, formerly
by-words, but now the favourite retreats of the prosperous
traders of Brighton, who have handsome villa residences here.
The parish is long and narrow, and commands, from various
points, picturesque views of the South Down range of hills,
near whose foot it stands, and over the adjacent Wealden district.

At the date of Domesday, William de Wateville held Chemer.
The powerful and ubiquitous Azor had held it of the Confessor.
It contained fourteen hides, and the arable was twenty-five
plough lands. There were 86 villeins and eleven bondmen, a
church, three ministri, forty acres of meadow, twe mills, and
seven houses in Lewes. Before the Conquest the manor was
estimated at £14, but at the time of the Survey at £12. It
passed like Clayton, from the De Warennes to the Fitz-Alans.
On the attainder of Richard, BEarl of Arundel, in 1897, it was
forfeited to the Crown, but was restored to his family on the
accession of Henry VI. After many changes of proprietorship
of no historical interest, it passed to the family of Cook, and
was successively purchased by the Chatfields and Bayntuns. The
manor extends into the somewhat remote parishes of Balcombe,
Bolney, Worth, and Cuckfield. The manor courts were held
at Brookland, an old farm-house on Valebridge or Walbridge
Common. One of the Domesday mills which stood near the
source of the stream issuing’ from the chalk-hill, no longer
exists. Valebridge appears to represent the other mill, and
there is a large pond, formerly perhaps connected with iron-
works. About half a century ago the pond bay gave way, and
rushed through the mill-house, which stood at a lower level,
carrying everything before it, including a bed upon which a
woman was lying. Happily this singular voyage was impeded
by some great branches of trees, which stopped the vessel, and
the passenger escaped without detriment!
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The manor of Ockley belonged, temp. Henry IIL., to Nicholas
de Hogan, by the service of half a knight’s fee and three barbed
arrows, payable to the barony of Lewes. In the early part of
the seventeenth century it was the property of George Luxford,
Esq., whose descendants possessed it for several generations.
Ultimately it passed to the ancient Sussex family of Wood, and
is now the property of James Wood, Esq. The estate called
Oldland was purchased in 84th Henry VIIL., of the Michelbornes,
by John Turner, whose descendants were connected, through
many generations, with this parish and Ditchling, and are now
somewhat widely dispersed through the county.

The church (the dedication of which I cannot ascertain) is
thus described by Mr. Hussey (1852). It consists of ¢ chancel,
nave, south porch, and west tower. The chancel is apsidal, not
merely rounded at the extremity, but the curve commences from
the junction of the nave. The chancel arch is round, the piers
being square blocks of masonry, with abaci at the spring of the
arch. One small Norman window is visible, though closed ; the
others are Decorated insertions. The tower, which, with the
rest of the building, has been greatly patched and plastered, is
in two stages, the lower Norman,” and the upper, apparently of
later date, yet early. The low shingled spire is a curious piece
of work, as if one had been capped over by another. I have
seen such instances in Normandy, but never elsewhere in Eng-
land. So much for the building in 1852; but since that time
nearly the whole edifice has been re-constructed, after the
modern taste, with several additions and much ornamentation,
concerning which one may say, ¢ De gustibus,” &c. However,
it is a handsome little edifice, and reflects credit on the architect,
Mr. E. E. Scott. There are inscriptions to the memory of the
families of Luxford and Plumer. A new district church (St.
John) was erected for the accommodation of the parishes of
Clayton and Keymer, in 1868. " The benefice is in the patronage
of the rector, the Incumbent being the Rev. George Kirk
‘Weston, M.A. From the name of St. John’s Common in this
parish, it is presumed that a chapel with that dedication formerly
existed there. Gault prevails in this parish, and excellent bricks
and pottery are made; and there is a large annual fair for sheep,
&c., which is known in the vernacular as “St. Joneses fair.”

[8. A. C. Domesday mills, v, 271. Encaustic tiles, xii, 10. xvi, 126.
xviii, 189. Chapel of St. John, xiii, 46. Family of Turner of Oldland,
xiii, 251. xvii, 111,248. Michelborne family, xiii, 251. Church, xvi, 184.
Bells, xvi, 215. 8t. John’s Common, xvi, 251. River Adur, xvi, 251.
Moural paintings, xvii, 249. Flint Celt, xviii, 64. Ockley manor, xx, 27.
Knights Hospitallers, xx, 27.]

B 2
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KINGSTON-JUXTA-LEWES.

A parish in the Hundred of Swanborough; Rape of Lewes ; distant two
miles south-west of Lewes, its Post-town and Railway station. Union,
Newhaven. Population,in 1811, 149 ; in 1861,137. Benefice, united
with Iford. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1654. Acreage, 1,653.
Chief Landowner, the Rev. John Goring, of Wiston.

It lies chiefly on the South Downs, from the highest point of
which, in this range, is a magnificent view over the north-east
portion of the county. Kingston, though traditionally deriving
its name from the Saxon Kings, is not mentioned in Domesday.
The church is named in a charter of Bishop Seffrid, about the
year 1200; and in 1397 Richard II. granted the manor to
-Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, and it was afterwards held by the
Priory of Lewes until the Dissolution. After the attainder
of Thomas, Lord Cromwell, it was held by the Crown until about
28th Elizabeth, when it was in the hands of Sir Philip Sydney,
who left it to his daughter, Elizabeth, Countess of Rutland. In
the 17th century it belonged to the Vinalls, and at a later period
to Robert Maitland, Esq., from whom it passed by sale to the
Gorings of Wiston. The manor-house is ancient, apparently of
the Early English period ; but it has been much mutilated within
the last few years.* The church, which belongs to the early
part of the 14th century, and which was much injured by light-
ning in 1865, consists of a nave, chancel, and a very small square
tower, with a tiled roof. It has threebells,two of which are ancient,
and inscribed respectively to St. Mary and St. Anne. Itcontains
memorials of the family of Vinall, and in the church-yard -are
others for those of Zouch,t Ade, Glover, Rogers, &c. In a lane
leading from the village to Ashcombe there is a sand-pit, a
habitat of the sand-martin, rare in this district; and near it is
a kind of tumulus, called ‘Nan Kemp’s grave.” There is a
tradition that this ‘“Nan,” whoever she was, murdered her
infant, committed suicide, and was buried in this  crossways.”

[8. A. C. Drinker acre, ix, 305. Goblin charcoal-spinner, xiii, 226.
Cockshut stream, xv, 163. Alchorne of, xvi, 49. Bells, xvi, 215. Cade’s
insurrection, xviii, 29. Smythwick, xviii, 29. Vinall family, xviii, 39.]

* KINGSTON (near Worthing).

A small parish, or rather fragment of one, containing 582
acres of land, and from 40 to 50 inhabitants. Mr. Hussey

* The present occupant of the house is my friend Mr. Joseph Cooper, F.8.A., who
well appreciates and preserves the relics of this ancient abode.

+ The last of this family, known as ‘“Madam Zouch,” was burnt to death in the
hall of Kingston manor-house in the year 17380.
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(‘“ Churches,” p. 246) has given so excellent an account of this
place, that I shall content myself with an abstract of his
article :— Great part of this parish, the church included,
appears to have been absorbed by the sea. It is now, though
nominally a rectory, annexed to the vicarage and parish of
Ferring. The old register still exists, reaching from a.p. 1570
to 1660, after which date there is no further entry, whence we
may conjecture that the church ceased to be used in 1661. The
register is styled that of the cAapel of Kingston. In the remaining
portion of this parish near the sea, the Vicar of Ferring possesses
about 1} acre of glebe, which has been suggested as the pos-
sible site of the destroyed church ; but no foundations or vestiges
of masonry are visible in the field. A map of the early part of
the 17th century shows ¢ Kingston Chapel,’ and a similar
entry occurs in Hondius’ map of 1610, and in Kip’s and Cam-
den’s. A tradition of the country points out certain rocks in
the sea, below high-water mark, as the site of the church. It
is more probable that it stood in the neighbourhood of the
field above-mentioned, where, on each side of the road, it is
quite evident there were formerly several houses.” Thus, as at
Cudlow, Middleton, Selsey, and many other parishes, the sea,
restrained within no fixed limits, has gradually eaten away our
southern coast—

¢ And fishes swim where birds were wont to sing.”

KINGSTON BOWSEY.

Domesday, Chingestun ; vulgo, Kingston-by-Sea ; a parish in the Half-
Hundred of Fishersgate; Rape of Bramber; distant one mile east
from Shoreham, which is its Post-town. It has a Railway station on
the South Coast line. Union, Steyning. Population in 1811, 60 ; in
1861, 93. Benefice, a Rectory, valued at £280. Patron, Lord Lecon-
field; Incumbent, Rev. W. Onions Purton, M.A. Date of earliest
Parish Register, 1591. Acreage, 799. Chief Landowner, William
Pennington Gorringe, Esq., who possesses nearly the whole parish,
and resides at Kingston House.

The river Adur, after many changes of outlet, now debou-
ches at Kingston Harbour, and this once unimportant parish has
a considerable amount of trade in consequence of its being the
station of the London, Brighton, and South Coast Railway for
merchandise landed at the port of Shoreham. Bonding ware-
houses, ponds, quays, corn warehouses, malthouses, shipbuilding
yards, coke-ovens, &c., have been constructed, and have rendered
this small parish of more note than when it boasted of Saxon
Kings as its owners. According to Domesday, it had been held
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by Azor of King Harold. Under the new dynasty, Ralph
held the principal part of W. de Braose. A church then existed.
From the 12th to the 14th century the Norman family of De Buci,
or Bowsey, were lords, and gave their name as a suffix, which
has been ignorantly corrupted to “by sea.” Later possessors
were Fyfhide and Sondes. ¥From temp, Henry VII. to the middle
of the 17th century it belonged to the Lewknors, then to Fagge
and Norton, which last sold it in 1798 to William Gorringe,
Esq. The manor-house has traces of temp. Henry VIL. and
VIII., and is supposed to have been originally much larger.

The church (St. Julian) has Norman and Early English fea-
tures, with Decorated and Perpendicular ingertions. In the
north wall of the chancel is a recessed tomb of about 1500—
probably of a Lewkmnor, whose arms occur in an adjoining
window, and also on the rood-screen. The tower, which is
vaulted, stands between the nave and the chancel, and a dilapi-
dated north aisle was removed in the last century. There are
many memorials for the family of Blaker, and for the names of
Dawson, Mills, Monke, and Norton. The building is admirably
kept, and forms a good study for the artist.

_[8. A. C. William, parson of the church of St. Julian of Kyngeston,
ix, 235. Smugglers, x, 81. Manor, and  Bullockers,” xiii, 48. Bell, xvi,
215. Buci family, and river Adur, xvi, 256. Lewknor, xvii, 97. Civil mar-
riages at Glynde, xix, 202.]

KIRDFORD.

Vulgo, Kard-foord, and Kay-foord; a parjsh in the Hundred of Rother-
bridge ; Rape of Arundel ; distant five miles north-east of Petworth,
its Post-town and Union. Railway station, Billingshurst, distant about
six miles. Population in 1811, 1,452; in 1861, 1,784. Benefice, a
Vicarage, valued at £500; Patron, Lord Leconfield; Incumbent,
Rev. John Francis Cole, B.A., of Worcester College, Oxford. Date
of earliest Parish Register, 1569. Acreage, more than 15,000. Chief
Landowners, the Earl of Winterton, Lord Leconfield, representatives
of the late Lady Newburgh, John Napper, Esq., William Peachey,
Esq., Richard Hasler, Esq. Seats, Shillinglee Park, Earl of Winter-
ton ; Ifold, J. Napper, Esq.; Ebernowe, William Peachey, Esq. ;
Barkfold, Captain Barwell, &c.

This, as will be seen by the figures above, is a very large
parish. It is also historically interesting and important. In
519 Cerdic, founder of the West-Saxon kingdom, fought a great
battle with the Britons, at a place called in the Saxon
Chronicle Cerdices-ford. Mr. Hussey (p. 247) thinks this
conflict occurred here—sed dubito, as Charford in Hampshire
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seems to have a superior claim. The soil is generally a stiff
clay, and there is much rough, heathy land, with coppice and
timber. Sussex marble, a geological deposit of fresh water shells,
imbedded in petrified mud, and called Petworth marble, Laugh-
ton marble, &c., is quarried in its best condition in this parish.
It appears in many churches and mansions in Sussex, and is the
finest stone, when properly polished, that the county can pro-
duce. The Archbishop’s chair at Canterbury is composed of
it. Some of the slabs of this beautiful material dug up in this
parish have been three feet thick and seven feet long.

Kirdford does not occur in Domesday, eo nomine; but in the
reign of Henry I., one of the sons of Roger de Montgomeri, Earl
of Arundel and Chichester, endowed the abbey of Seez in Nor-
mandy with the church of Kuerdford.

The principal manor in the parish is Schullinglegh, or Surr.-
LINGLEE, which was attached to the Honour of Arundel, and the
Earls had a great park here. When Henry VIIL. made forced
exchanges with his subjects about 1542, the Crown-parker,
Richard Bowyer, got possession, and Shillinglee was annexed to
the Honour of Petworth; but it was afterwards re-annexed to
the Arundel estate. In 1616, Thomas, Earl of Arundel, sold the
manor to Gerard Gore, Alderman of London, for £4,587. His
heiress, Sarah, married Sir Edward Turnour, Chief-baron of the
Exchequer, of an ancient Suffolk family, dating from {temp.
Henry IV. The second son of this marriage established himself
at Shillinglee, and ultimately the estate was transmitted through
a female line to Edward Turnour Garth, Esq. In 1581 the park
of Shillinglee is described as being six miles in compass within
the pale, and a right is recognized that the farmer of ihe par-
sonage should have, in a “mast year” (i.¢., when acorns were
plentiful), the right of feeding 80 hogs, or more, for seven weeks.
The house and park of Shillinglee are situated in the northern
part of the parish. The mansion was built in the early part
of the 18th century, and in 1778 the first Earl of Winterton
added a south front, with an elegant vestibule and several excel-
lent rooms. The present Earl of Winterton, fourth in descent
from the first peer, possesses a large portion of the great tithes.
The house is surrounded by very picturesque forest scenery, and
there is a lake of 70 acres. Including Ash Park, King’s Park,
&c., the ring fence comprises more than six thousand acres.
Another considerable estate in Kirdford is PrEistrow, or Pray-
sTow, parcel of the manor of Slyndon, once belonging to' the see
of Canterbury, and it is said that the Archbishops occasionally
retired hither, and had a private oratory. (Dallaway.) This
estate has descended in the same line as Slyndon. A large
farm and estate at Playstow belonged for several generations to
the families of Steere and Lee. v
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' Hisernvow, IBERNHOO, or EBERNOWE, a very ancient manor,
was attached to the Honour of Arundel. Henry VIIL, in one
of his forced exchanges—that made with William, Earl of
Arundel—seized this manor. The Crown retained it till 1592.
It afterwards passed to John Brown, and from him to John
Smyth, citizen of London. Another line of descent is given by
other authorities, who state that it was appendant to the mgnor
of Halnaker ; that it was confirmed in 1542 to Thomas, Lord la
Warr; in 1554 to Henry, Earl of Arundel; and in 1593 to
Anthony, Viscount Montague. Both accounts agree thatit was
purchased in 1708 by William Peachey, Esq., and descended to
his family, The parish contains the three manors of Pailing-
ham, Bedeham, and Barkfold. In the early part of the present
century, Edward Napper, Esq., of Ifold, built a commodious
mansion. The Benefice was given to the Abbey of Seez, in Nor-
mandy. At the Dissolution, it passed to Henry, Earl of Arundel,
and at a later date from Lord John Lumley to Sir Peter Bettes-
vﬁorth. From that family it descended to Sir Richard Worsley,

art.

The church, dedicated to St. Mary, is spacious, with a lofty
tower at the west end. There are monumental inscriptions to
the families of Peachey, Winterton, &c. A few years since, during
repairs, several mural paintings were brought to light. At the
east end was the Crucifixion; and on other walls, St. Nicholas
restoring to life two children who had been salted down in a
tub; St. Catherine on her wheel ; a king exhorted to good by a
counsellor on one side, and to evil by a demon on the other ; and
(apparently) the Adoration of the Magi. These have mostly been
plastered over, and the present incumbent had careful drawings
of them. The chapel'at Praisrow is dependent on Kirdford
church. The old church, being in a state of dilapidation, was
replaced by a new and larger one in 1856, dedicated to the
Holy Trinity.

It appears that the manufacture of glass was carried on here
in 1581, when “ David, son of Mr. Barry, glassmaker, stranger,
was baptized.” The fact of glassmaking ever having been car-
ried on in this county has been doubted. Charnock’s ¢ Breviary
of Philosophy ** has the following lines on the subject :—

¢ As for glassmakers they be scant in thisland,
Yet one there is as I do understand,
And in Sussex now is his habitation,
At Chedingfold he works of his ocoupation.”

Chiddingfold is within a short distance of Kirdford, although
just within the county of Surrey.

[8. A. C. Tron-works, ii, 212. Church of, xii, 98. xix, 103. Osbornes
of, xii, 98 Floats of, xii, 94. Pleistow chapel, xii, 94. Shillinglee, xiii,
318. xvi, 256. Queen Elizabeth at, xiii, 813, Pleistow in, xiii, 813.
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Arundel, Earl of, residing here, xiv, 8. Bonvilles lands in, xv, 59. Bells
of, xvi, 215. Pleistow bell, xvi, 220. Arun, river at, xvi, 256. Serf
womﬁn stolen by Poachers, xvii, 120. Kempes had lands, &c., in, xix,
119.

LAMBERHURST.

(Anglo-Saxon lambru (lambs) and hyrst—a woody place, but
suitable for the pasturage of lambs?) The church and great
part of the village street are in Kent, in the Lathe of Aylesford.
The Sussex portion is in the Hundred of Loxfield-Camden. This
lies at the north-east corner of Pevensey rape. The Tyse, a
branch of the Medway, runs through the parish. The popula-
tion does not exceed 1,700, and the area is, Kent, 3,590 ; Sussex,
1,700 acres. The principal residence is Court Lodge, the pro-
perty of the Morland family.

The manor of Lamberhurst was held in ancient times by the
Norman family of Crevecceur, and at later dates the names of
Lenham, Chidcroft, and Kenith are connected with it. Nicholas
de Kenith gave it to Robertsbridge Abbey. Henry VIII.
granted it to Sir Henry Sydney. In 1607 it passed to the family
of Porter, and after several changes it was purchased femp.
George I. by William Morland, Esq. Hodleigh, another manor,
belonged to the canons of Lingfield in Surrey, and at the Dis-
solution it was granted to the Cardens, and passed from them
to the Filmers.

ScornNeY CASTLE, in this parish, gave name to the family of
De Scotney. The manor lies chiefly in the Sussex portion. The
house is castellated, and surrounded by a moat; but of the
original building few traces remain. The most conspicuous of
the ancient proprietors was Walter de Scotney, who was tried
and hanged at Winchester in 1259 for administering poison to
Richard, Earl of Gloucester, and his brother William, from
which the former died. After the extinction of this family, it
passed, temp. Edward IIL., to the Ashburnhams, and by them was
sold to Henry Chicheley, Archbishop of Canterbury, whose niece
conveyed it by marriage to John Darrell, of Cale Hill, in Kent,
Bsq. In 1774 John Darrell, Esq., sold it to Mr. John Richards,
of Robertsbridge, of whom it was purchased by Edward Hussey,
Esq., grandfather of Edward Hussey, Esq., the present owner.
Bayaam ABBEY is partly in this parish. (See that article.)

Lamberhurst formerly possessed the largest iron-manufactory
in Sussex. Gloucester Furnace, partly in this parish and partly
in Wadhurst, was the greatest establishment in the south of
England. Large cannons were cast here, and some, it is said,
were smuggled to France, for the use of privateers acting against
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England. Here is said to have been wrought the great balus-
trade round St. Paul’s, which cost more than £11,000, though
Mayfield disputes this. There seem to have been chapels in
this parish called respectively Passeley and La Leake. The
former may have been in Ticehurst.

[8. A. C. Iron-works, ii, 212. iii, 241. Scotneys of, viii, 153. xiii, 171.
xvi, 272. Chapels, xiii, 47. Stannyndens of, xiii, 92. Grant of lands by
Elizabeth, xiii, 110. An Ashburnham at Agincourt, xv,125. River Tyse
or Tees,xvi, 272. * Little Sussex” and Beaul-bourne, xvi, 272. London
road to Rye, xix, 166.]

LANCING.

Domesday, Lancings; a parish in the Hundred of Brightford ; Rape of
Bramber; distant two miles north-east from Worthing ; Post-town,
Shoreham. It has a Railway station. Population in 1811, 519; in
1861, 901. Benefice, a Vicarage, valued at £151 ; Patron, Bishop of
London; Incumbent, Rev. Frederick Fisher Watson, M. A., of Caius
College, Cambridge. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1580. Acreage,
2,524. Chief Landowner, Lieut.-Colonel Carr Lloyd, Manor-house.

Before the Conquest Lewin held Lancings of the Confessor;
subsequently Robert held it of William de Braose, Lord of Bram-
ber. Lewin was assessed at 16 hides and a roodland. Robert,
his Norman successor, had 12 hides and 1§ rood. The arable
was five plough-lands. There were in the demesne 18 villeins
and 7 bondmen. There was a mill, and also 7 salt-pans. Two
Knights possessed, besides, 24 hides and 11 salt-pans. Two
Ralphs are mentioned among the tenants, one of whom had five
additional salt-pans. This proves that the manufacture of salt
in this seaboard parish was formerly of considerable extent.
The ante-Domesday rental was £9, and subsequently £7. The
details of the survey of Lancings are particularly minute. About
the end of the 18th century, Ranulf de Broc, and John de Gad-
desden, held each two knights’ fees in Lancing and the neigh-
bourhood. The manors of South Lancing, North Lancing,
Monks, and Lyons, originally very small, have long been united
in the proprietorship of one lord. The manors of South Lan-
cing and Lyons belenged to the great estate of Robert le Sau-
vage, and descended as Broadwater. Those of North Lancing,
with Monks, after having been long in the possession of the
families of Avenel and De Brok, came, perhaps by marriage,
into that of Poynings. Temp. Henry VIIL. it was sold to Sir
Reginald Bray, who transferred it to George, Lord Abergavenny.
Subsequently it was in the Goring family, and so descended to
the Biddulphs, as Burton. These formerly distinct, but now
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united manors, extend, according to Cartwright, from West
sea-mills gate, in Broadwater, to a place where the Adur (be-
fore the new cut was made about 1760) debouched into the sea,
and thence ascend the old course of the river in the middle of
the stream beyond the bridge. There haslong been a question
of right of foreshore between the lords of Lancing and their east-
ern neighbour. If the riveris to be taken as the limit of the
two lordships, the boundary must have changed many times, as
there has been a constant tendency of the Adur, as of nearly all
our Sussex rivers, towards the east, caused by the dashing of
the Atlantic wave, driven by the south-west winds, up the
English Channel. Even now, as I write, the question of the
boundary of Lancing manor is sub lite. The Adur first and
naturally debouched at Shoreham, but at subsequent periods, by
the force of Caurus, it was driven eastward to different points
almost as far as Brighton, and has frequently found its outlet far
from the present one of Kingston harbour, which is so fortified
by human agency that it seems probable that it will remain
there. In the meantime, who has right to the foreshore to the
south of this bend of the Adur? Let lawyers decide by the law
of mwrecca maris.®* In 1684, Sir William Goring embanked 600
acres of land in this parish, by which he made a valuable addi-
tion to his land called the ¢ Salts-farm.” The manors of North
and South Lancing were sold, in 1827, by John Biddulph, Esq.,
to James Martin Lloyd, Esq., and they now belong to Colonel
George Carr Lloyd. There are two other manors of small ex-
tent in the parish called Lancing and Grants; the latter named
after the family of Le Graunt, who possessed it in 1309. It
afterwards (1567) passed to the Boords. It ultimately became
the property of the Lloyds. There is, besides, a small manor
on the north side of the parish, called How in Domesday, and
now How Court. At the date of Domesday William Fitz-Bar-
nard held it of William de Warenne. It had been previously
held by Earl Godwin at six hides. Six salt-pans are mentioned,
showing that the manor extended either to the sea or the Adur,
then, perhaps, an estuary. Before the Conquest it was valued
at £4 ; afterwards at £6. This manor descended, by consan-
guinity or purchase, through the families of De Combes, Hal-
sham, Shirley, and Caryll, to that of Lloyd. The manor, ac-
cording to Cartwright, pays tithe of corn and hay of about 294
acres to the rector of West Grinstead, and of about 45 to the
vicar of Henfield.

Mr Hussey thinks it may be admitted a probable conjecture
that this parish derives its name from Wlencing, one of the sons
of Zlla, the founder of the South Saxon kingdom.” Considerable

® This suit has just been decided against the lord of Lancing,
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foundations of buildings, a bath, coins, interments, &c., were
discovered on Lancing Down in 1828, but were destroyed by an
ignorant proprietor. The coins range from Claudius to Galli-
enus, showing a long possession of the spot by the Romans.
Full particulars of the discovery will be found in the scarce and
extremely valuable ¢ Collectanea Antiqua ”’ of Mr. Charles Roach
Smith, F.8.A., Vol. i, 92.

The great tithes, with the exceptions just mentioned, were
given by Sir Michael de Poynings to the Friary of Motinden, in
the parish of Headcorn in Kent. It is curious to note that the
lands at this period (the time of Edward III.) were valued at
threepence per acre. The priest, however, received £23 6s. 8d.
per annum. At the dissolution of the monasteries it was ex-
changed for certain lands in the see of Lincoln. Afterwards it
passed, by lease, through the family of Barttelot to that of Lloyd.
Mention is made in the Nonz rolls (1841) of lands and a water-
mill destroyed by the sea.

The church (St. James) is composed of tower, chancel, nave,
and north and south aisles. The porch on the south side, and
the west door, are described by Cartwright as Early Norman.
There are additions and insertions of much later styles. The
tower stands between the nave and chancel, and seems to have
been much loftier than at present. It appears that in 1618 the
upper part of the tower was taken down, and the present pyra-
midal cap added.” In the chancel there is “an arch of the age
of Edward ITI., under which was no doubt anciently an effigy.”
- (Cartwright.) The following names are commemorated on monu-
mental stones in this church ; Martin, Temple, Lloyd, Bartlett,
Pyxe, Bury, Jones, Winton, Tanner, Hersee, Olliver, Nash, &ec.
In the parish register is the following curious entry :—¢ John
‘Wolven, commonly called the honest man, buried June 13,1691.”
In 1685 many persons died of an infectious distemper. It is
singular that, from 1669 to 1673,the funerals at New Shoreham
are regislered here.

In this parish, on a commanding height, stands an extensive
building, called St. Nicholas’ College, founded for the purpose
of educating boys of the middle classes in what are called “ high
church” principles. The edifice is handsome and commodious,
and was erected chiefly through the exertions of the Rev.N. Wood-
ard, D.C.L., who is styled provost, not only of this school, but of
similar establishments at Hurst-Pierpoint, Shoreham, Ardingly,
and elsewhere. The Rev. R. E. Sanderson, M.A., assisted by
several other clergymen, has charge of this important school.

[8. A. C. Domesday watermill, v, 271. Church, xii, 107. De Broc,
xv, 15. Rents to Boxgrove, v. 119. Bells, xvi, 215. How Court, xix, 68.
Shirleys of, xix, 68.]
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LANGNEY, vulgo LANGLEY.

Langney Point is an advanced tongue of shingle, situated
about three miles south-west of Pevensey, at the extremity of
Pevensey Bay. The shingle, driven hither by heavy south-west
tides, is at one point upwards of a mile across, and is patched here
and there with furze. Near it is a large lagoon called Crumble
Pond. Langneyis locally in the parish of Westham. Itis now
a farm, and was anciently a grange belonging to the Priory of
Lewes. The lands were granted, or confirmed, by divers bene-
factors, William Malfield, his wife and two sons, Simon de Ech-
ingham, Peter of Savoy, and King Henry ITI. The De Eching-
hams, however, reserved certain rights over the monks of Lewes,
such as meat, drink, and lodgment for themselves, their horses,
palfreys, grooms, and hunting-dogs during three days per annum,
and the instruction of their servitor in the duties of a cook in
the monks’ kitchen. This claim was found burdensome by the
brethren, and so in 1808, Sir William de Echingham accepted
£100 by way of commutation. It is curious to note that a pow-.
erful Baron, for such he was, should seek the assistance of “ ab-
stemious monks ”” in his cuisire. The house at Langney, though
much modernized, retains several vestiges of its former state,
including a beautiful chapel, which was nearly entire when I
visited the spot some years since.

LAUGHTON.

Domesday, Lestone; a parish in the Hundred of Shiplake; Rape of
Pevensey; distant six miles north-east from Lewes, its Railway sta-
tion; Post-town, Hawkhurst; Union, Hailsham. Population in
1811, 612; in 1861, 742. Benefice, a Vicarage, valued at £256.
Patron, the Earl of Chichester; Incumbent, Rev. Charles Dennis
Charlton, M.A., of St. John’s College, Cambridge. Date of earliest
Parish Register, 1650. Acreage, 5,075. Chief Landowner, the
Earl of Chichester, who 'possesses nearly the whole of the parish.
Seat, Laughton Lodge, Sir James Duke, Bart., formerly Lord Mayor
of London. ’

This is a parish of diversified soil and level, and of almost
every variety of character, from a rich alluvial valley to wood-
lands and uplands of comparatively small value. The freshwater
shelly concretion, called Sussex marble, is found in the south
part of the parish, and is locally known as Laughton marble.
The tributary of the Ouse, named the Ritch, fiows through
Laughton Level. The manor of Laughton, one of the most
extensive in this part of Sussex, includes the greater part of the
hundred of Shiplake, and has sub-infeudations both within and
beyond that boundary. In Saxon times Earl Godwin held it,
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and after the Conquest it passed with the rape_to the Earl of
Moreton. There were 16 salt-pans on the estuary of the Ritch.
During the Edwardian period the manor belonged successively
to the great families of Badlesmere, Spenser, and De Vere. The
next lords were the Pelhams, who have held it in continuity for
the last five centuries, and the Earl of Chichester still has from
it his second title, Baron Pelham of Laughton.

Laughton Place was the seat of the chivalrous Sir John Pel-
ham, who, in 1356, at the battle of Poictiers, took prisoner
John, King of France, and so won the far-famed Pelham badge
of the Buckle, which is still to be seen on many a church tower
in Bast Sussex. The house, which is moated, was rebuilt in
1534 by Sir William Pelham, and still presents some features of
the fortalice of that date. It is built of brick, and contains
some beautifully moulded ornaments, among which the Buckle
is conspicuous. In the reign of Elizabeth the Pelhams re-
moved their chief residence from this house -to Halland, where
they built a splendid mansion on the site of the seat of the
Halle family. (See Ore.) This mansion was on the borders of
Laughton and East Hothly, the boundary line of the parishes.
passing through the site. (See East Hothly.)

- The church 18 composed of chancel, nave, and west tower, in
styles varying from Early English to Decorated. The chancel,
which serves as a mausoleum for the Pelham family, was rebuilt
by the Duke of Newcastle in the last century. The vaults
beneath contain the mortal remains of a long line of that illus-
trious race. In the spandrels of the doorway of the tower are
the arms of Pelham and Colbrand, the latter family having
formerly been owners of the estate called Colbrand’s in this
parish. There are inscriptions for the names of Pelham, Benge,
‘Wenham, Courthope, &ec.

Chamber’s Court, in this parish, was the original seat of the
ancient family of De la Chambre, afterwards of Litlington,
Rodmell, Denton, East Bourne, and Chyngton. It is now a
small farmhouse only.

[8. A. C. King Edward I. visits, i, 138. Laughton Place, vii, 64.
xv, 163. xvi, 292. xvii, 249. Pelham family, iv, 125. x, 211. xiv, 234.
xvi, 292, 296. xvii, 249. Duke of Newcastle, xi, 219. Shoosmith family,
xii, 255. Land given by Queen Elizabeth, xiii, 48. Family of De la
Chambre, xiii, 258. xiv, 213. Salt-pans, xiv, 211. Broomham, xiv, 213.
Peckham, xiv, 221, 227. Ritch river, xv, 163. Bells, xvi, 215. Oratory at
Laughton, xvii, 249. Jack Cade’s adherents, xviii, 25. Park of, xix, 173.]

EAST LAVANT.

A Parish in the Hundred of Aldwick, Rapeof Chichester; distant 2}
miles north-west from Chichester, its Post-town and Railway station.
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Union, West Hampnett. Population in 1811, 348; in 1861, with
West Lavant, 421. Benefice, a Rectory, valued at £410; Patron,
Lord Willoughby de Broke ; Incumbent, Rev. Henry Legge, M.A.,
of Christ Church, Oxford. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1653.
Acreage, 2,884. Chief Landowner, the Duke of Richmond.

Like the other two villages bearing this name, it derives
its designation from the little river Lavant, which finds its outlet
at Chichester Harbour. Wxsrt LavanT, a tything belonging to
this parish, is separated from it by Mid Lavant, which inter-
venes. The Domesday manor of Loventune, or Levitone, by
which this place is supposed to be meant, was held, in the time
of the Confessor, by Godwin, a priest, and afterwards by
Osborne, Bishop of Exeter. It was assessed at six hides, and was
appropriated to the church of Bosham. It was afterwards trans-
ferred to the see of Canterbury, and subsequently came to the
Crown. In 1560 Queen Elizabeth granted it to Sir Richard
Baker, and in 1775 it was sold to Charles, third Duke of
Richmond.

The church (St. Mary) has Norman features, and consists of
an ancient nave, with a chancel of much later date. The floor,
says Horsfield, has slabs of Sussex marble, ornamented with
crosses, one of which bears, in Lombardic characters, the legend
¢ Priez qui passez par ici, pur I’alme Luci de Mildebi.” < All
you that pass by, pray for the soul of Lucy de Mildebi.” There
are other inscriptions to the names of Cawse, Stockton, Hen-
shaw, Heberden, and Compton.

[8. A. C. (Including Mid-Lavant.) May of Rawmere, v, 47. xix, 95.
Roman road, x, 169. Church, xii, 74. xix,169. Mid-Lavant Church, xii,
75. xix, 169. Bells, xvi, 216. River Lavant, xvi,261. Henshawe, Bishop
of Peterborough, xix, 92, Rawmere, v,47. xix, 95,167. London Road
to Chichester, xix, 167. Oxford Road, xix, 169. Lavant, West, and Crow-
shall House of the Millers, Barts., xix, 169.]

MID-LAVANT.

A parish in the Hundred of Westbourne; Rape of Chichester; distant
two miles north-west from Chichester, its Post-town and Railway
station. Union, West Hampnett. Population in 1811, 215; in
1861, 257. Benefice, a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £50; Patron,
the Duke of Richmond; Incumbent, Rev. Walter Hook, B.A. Date
of earliest Parish Register,1567. Acreage, 850. Chief Landowner,

" the Duke of Richmond.

The little river Lavant, which flows into Chichester Har-
bour, gives name to three villages on its banks, called respec-
tively East, Mid, and West Lavant. In Domesday Loventune is
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mentioned, but to which, or whether to all the three places the
record refers is uncertain. It is placed in the hundred of Sille-
tone (Singleton). Before the Conquest it belonged to Earl God-
win ; afterwards Ivo heldit of Roger, Earl of Montgomeri. It
consisted of nine hides. In 1581 Richard May of Rawmere
held the manor of Mid-Lavant, and it continued in his family
almost two centuries. Thomas May Knight, Esq., sold it to
Charles, third Duke of Richmond. The large mansion com-
menced by Richard May towards the end of the reign of Eliza-
beth, and finished by his son, temp. James I., was taken down
by the Duke of Richmond many years since.

The church (St. Nicholas) was originally very small. The
only ancient windows remaining are two lancets in the chancel,
and a very small round-headed one in the nave. (Hussey.) Some
mural paintings were discovered here about the year 1849. The
modern church, consisting of nave and chancel, was erected by
the family of May in the former part of the eighteenth century.
There is a marble effigy of life size, of Dame Mary May, who
died in 1681. -

[8. A. C. Bee under East Lavant.]

LEOMINSTER. (See Lyminster.)

LEWES.

Domesday, Lewes; a borough and market-town, and, for civil purposes,
the County-town of Sussex. It is distant 50 miles south from
London, and the meridian of Greenwich passes through its western
extremity. It gives name to a Rape, an Archdeaconry, and a
Union. It has a Post-office, and a station of the South Coast Rail-
way, from which several lines radiate. Its population in 1811 was
6,664, and in 1861, 10,116. Including the suburbs of Southover,
Cliffe, and, South Malling, it contains seven parishes, and for con-
venience, these will be dealt with collectively.

Except Brighton it is the largest town on the South Down
range. Lewes proper rises rather abruptly from the Ouse, its
navigable river, upon a spur of the Downs, by one long
thoroughfare called High Street, running in the direction of
Brighton, and nearly a mile in length : the lateral streets are
generally small and unimportant. The suburb called the Cliffe
Lies on the east side of the Ouse, in the Rape of Pevensey.
South Malling is also in Pevensey Rape, and is a continuation
of the Cliffe in two streets. Southover, as its first syllable im-
plies, occupies a position south and south-west of the town.
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Newhaven, six miles southward, is the port of Lewes, and,
together with the railway, greatly assists the commerce of the
town. TFor picturesqueness of situation few places can compare
with Lewes. The keep of its Castle rises with much grandeur
as the central object, a kind of Acropolis, and forms a noble
object from every point of view. There is much irregular natural
beauty everywhere, and to add to its attractions the late William
Cobbett pronounced it to be “ the town of clean windows and
pretty faces!” The etymology of the name is very uncertain,
and much truly ridiculous conjecture has been spent upon it.
(See Dr. Charnock’s “Local Etymology.”) The town and its
name are both unquestionably Celtic in origin, and the second
syllable, es, doubtless means water, in allusion to the situation
on what was once a considerable estuary of the English Channel.

Of the early history of the town little can be ascertained.
Roman urns, coins, &c., have frequently been discovered, and
Lewes has been supposed to be identical with the obscure station
known as Mutuantonis. Earlier remains of the pre-historic period
have also frequently been exhumed from the neighbouring downs.
In Saxon times Lewes became more important, and previously
to the reign of Athelstan had two mints which continued to issue
a silver coinage down to the days of Harold. Specimens of
Lewes pennies were discovered both in the « Alfriston find ”” and
in the more remarkable one at Washington, in 1866. So early
as the days of the Heptarchy, Malling had become a seat of
Christianity, Ceadwalla, king of Wessex and Sussex having there
founded a college, which he gave to the church of Canterbury.
At the Conquest King William I. gave to William de Warenne,
the husband of his daughter Gundrada, together with enormous
possessions in Surrey, Yorkshire, Norfolk, &c., the town and
rape of Lewes, that is to say a sixth part of the whole county.
The account of the town in Domesday is very curious. Edward
the Confessor had 127 burgesses in domain, who paid him in
rent and toll, £6 13s. 11d., and 20s. as a subsidy, when he sent
an armament to guard the seas. The purchaser of a man paid
4d. toll ; a murderer could expiate his crime for 7s. 4d., an
adulterer and a runaway singularly enough paid more, viz.,
8s. 4d. each. The population is supposed at this period to have
been less than 1900 persons.

William de Warenne, having made Lewes his chief residence
and caput baronie, erected a magnificent Castle, probably on the
site of an olderfortress. In conjunctionwith his illustrious consort
he also founded the great Priory of St. Pancras, in Southover.
Their successors, the Earls of Warenne and Surrey, played an
active part in field and council. John, seventh Earl, took part
with Henry III., but deserted him in the hour of danger. When

VOL.- IL c
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Edward I. issued his commission to ascertain by what right the
great feudal lords held their lands, the Earl drew a rusty old
sword, exclaiming: ¢ By this weapon did my ancestor win his
lands, at Hastings, and with the same I will defend them!”
His grandson of the same name, eighth and last Lord of Lewes,
of his name, died in 1347, when the Barony devolved upon his
sister Alice, wife of Edmund Fitz-Alan, Earl of Arundel, in
whose heirs general, the Earls of Abergavenny and De la Warr,
and the Duke of Norfolk, the barony now jointly vests. From
the early part of the fifteenth century the lords were non-resi-
dent, and Lewes lost its feudal importance.

In 1205, 1209, and 1213, King John paid hurried visits to the
town, and in 1264 occurred on the Downs, close by, the memor-
able Battle of Lewes. The confederated Barons having taken
arms under Simon de Montfort, the two hostile armies met
in deadly strife on the 14th of May. Henry IIL. had lodged
himself on the previous night at the Priory, while Prince
Edward had made the Castle his head quarters. Simon de
Montfort and his troops made a hasty march from London
towards Lewes, and the battle took place to the north-
westward of the town, the fury of the warfare having ranged,
according to tradition, from Mount Harry (so named from the
King?) to the Castle itself, and even beyond, into the marshy
estuary of the Ouse. The result of this battle is well known.
The Baronial party were victorious. Henry and Prince Edward
were fain to take refuge at the Priory. Richard, titular King
of the Romans, and brother of the King, was captured in a
windmill near the site of the Black Horse Inn; and after the
slaughter of thousands of men on each side, a mise or treaty
was entered into between the belligerents, which eventually
resulted in the establishment of a representative government,
and it is not too much to assert that the ¢ great Battle of the
Constitution” was fought on Lewes hills. Such numerous
details of the battle, its causes, and consequences, have been
given in Mr. Blaauw’s researchful work, ¢« The Baron’s War,”
that we have no need to enlarge on this grand historical event.

King Edward I. was several times at Lewes, between the years
1276 and 1805. In 1877 the French having made a hostile
descent upon our coast at Rottingdean, John de Cariloco, Prior
of St. Pancras, with some neighbouring gentlemen and a body
of rustics, met them on the Downs between the two points.
Though the little Lewes army succeeded in driving the enemy
to their ships, the prior and two attendant knights were carried
off as prisoners. At this period Lewes was a well-fortified town,
and traces of the wall still remain. It had a prison and a
market, a merchant-guild, and a staple of wool. It also con-




LEWES. 19

tained three conventual establishments and fourteen parish
churches, besides chapels and hospitals. Nothing of interest is
recorded for several generations, but in 1537 the Priory was
dissolved, and what had been the main stay of the repute and
prosperity of the town disappeared. In 1545 the French again
invaded Sussex, but a Lewes knight, Sir Nicholas Pelham, an-
cestor of the Earl of Chichester, repulsed them valiantly. In
the reign of Queen Mary, Lewes, as the county town, was the
scene of many of those holocausts which disgraced her times.
Sixteen martyrs to the cause of the Reformation were burnt in
the forum of Lewes—the local Smithfield, opposite the Star
inn—between 1555 and 1557, the last ¢ burnt-offering to a
good conscience ” being the well-known iron-master, Richard
Woodman, and nine others, five of whom were women. Ata
later period most of the county gentry had town houses in
Lewes, and a great portion of the High Street was occupied
with these residences, many of which, with spacious gardens,
remain. Daniel de Foe, in his ¢ Tour,” 1724, and Dr. Burton in
his “ Tter Sussexiense,” some years later, give graphic accounts
of the town. In the course of the French war, Lewes became
a considerable military station, and extensive barracks were
built at the western extremity of the town. During the gay career
of the Prince Regent (George IV.) that personage annually
visited Lewes for three days for the races. In 1830 King William
and Queen Adelaide had a loyal reception; and Queen Victoria
has also passed through the town en route for Buxted Park, the
residence of her Lord Chamberlain, the late Earl of Liverpool.

Lewes Castle, as we have seen, was built by De Warenne soon
after the Conquest. Its existing remains are the Keep, which
occupies a commanding artificial mound, and dominates the
town in a manner truly feudal ; some walls of the enciente ; and
the Barbican or advanced work, a picturesque gateway of the
fourteenth century, covering the simple Norman semi-circular
perforation of the wall, which was the original gate. This once
frowning stronghold included a base court more than 800 feet
in its longest diameter, and had, besides the Keep proper,
another elevation called the Brackmount, on which formerly
stood a kind of second keep, or a strong tower. The precinct
now contains two or three private residences, and an excellent
bowling-green. In 1850 the Sussex Archsological Society hired
the Castle of the Lords of the Borough, which they still occupy
—the keep as a museum of local antiquities, and the barbican
as a council-chamber. The leads of the keep command a noble
and picturesque view, embracing the Weald, the site of the
Battle, the port of Newhaven, and that remarkable geological
“fault,” the Combe, in the range called Cliff Hill,

c2
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The Priory, which lies in a meadow in the suburban parish
of Southover, was founded, as before stated, by William de
‘Warenne and Gundrada, about the year 1078, and dedicated
to St. Pancras, the martyr, to whose honour a small wooden
church had existed on the spot before the Conquest. It was
of the Cluniac order, a branch of the Benedictines, and the
first house of that denomination in England. Its endow-
ments were enormous, and its prior being mitred, subse~
quently became a peer of the realm. The first prior was
Lanzo, a man of great piety and learning, and there were
few monasteries in this country which enjoyed so wide a
reputation. Among those who added to its endowments
and found sepulture in its church were the De Warennes,
Clares, De Veres, St. Johns, Fitz-Alans, De Lancasters, and
Nevilles. The vicissitudes of this great Priory have been set.
forth in several notices by Mr. Blaauw in ¢ Sussex Archaological
Collections.” At the dissolution of the religious houses by
Heunry VIII., in 1587, the revenues were estimated at £1,091
9s. 6d., equal to at least £10,000 at the present day. The Vicar
General, Cromwell, immediately ordered the work of demolition
to commence, and one Portinari, an Italian, speedily performed
the execrable deed of levelling with the ground, the great church,
equal in extent to most cathedrals, the chapter-house, cloisters,
&c., 8o that to-day we see in a few rude and unintelligible walls
all that remains of this once enormous group of buildings,
which occupied with its adjunct of ¢ Calvary,” garden, pigeon-
house, and stews for fish, a splendid area of forty acres. Crom-
well himself got a grant of the Priory and all its possessions,
and after that favourite’s deposition they were granted by Henry
to his repudiated queen, Anne of Cleves. Tradition assigns as
her residence the old porched house of the Pelhams, in the
High Street of Southover ; but there is no proof: indeed poor
Anne seems to have had as many residences and places of death
as Oliver Cromwell had skulls. At a later date Thomas Sack-
ville, the Elizabethan poet and statesman, had a house on the
site of the Priory, called the Lord’s place, which was burnt
down. The manor of Southover subsequently passed to the
families of Tufton, Trayton, Durrant, and Verrall, William
Verrall, Esq., being the existing lord. The portion of the priory
demesne which contains the ruins belongs to Mrs. John Blaker.
A short distance to the north-east of the ruins is a remarkable
mound with a spiral pathway, obviously the ancient Calvary of
the monastery. The earth of which it is constructed was evi-
dently taken from an adjacent depressed spot, called from its
shape the Dripping-pan, and now devoted to cricket matches
and other public amusements.




LEWES. - 21

During the progress of the excavations necessary for the for-
mation of the South-Coast Railway, which passes through the
Priory grounds, occurred, in 1845, one of the most remarkable
archzological discoveries of our times. This was no less than
two small leaden coffers, less than three feet in length, contain-
ing respectively the bones of WiLLELM’ (de Warenne) and Gox-
DRADA, the founder and foundress of the Priory, who had died
before the completion of the great church, and been buried in
the ordinary manner. On the completion of that edifice their
bones were doubtless exhumed and removed to the more honour-
able place of sepulture. The names of both these illustrious
personages were inscribed on the lids of the coffers, which are
preserved in Southover church. Many other objects of anti-
quarian interest were brought to light at the same time.

The other monastic institutions of Lewes were :—(1.) Malling
Deanery, previously mentioned as having been founded in Saxon
times, which was dissolved by Henry VIII., in 1545. It was
originally built at Old Malling, and afterwards removed to
South Malling, in the same parish. The assassins of Thomas 4
Becket took shelter here in their flight on the second night after
the murder at Canterbury, and the notable miracle of the table
in the great hall having tilted itself to throw off the blood-
stained armour of the knights is known to the readers of Stan-
ley’s Memorials of Canterbury. (2.) The house of Grey Friars
without the east gate of the town. Of its foundation nothing
is known, and it possesses little history, except that two of the
brethren mediated between Henry III. and the Barons in 1264. -
After the Dissolution it became a private residence, and was
pulled down to make room for the railway station in 1845.
(3.) The hospital of St. James, near the gate of the Priory, for
thirteen poor brethren and sisters, whose duty was to pray for the
founders and their heirs. The chapel, now much patched, is still
standing. (4.) A miserable old thatched cottage in St. Anne’s,
called the Spital, represents the Hospital of St. Nicholas, a place
of rest and entertainment for pilgrims to St. Pancras’ Priory.

A brief topographical account of Lewes follows. Southover
Church, dedicated to St. John the Baptist, stands in the southern
suburb of the town. It is in various styles, from Early Norman
to the non-descript of the 18th century—the brick tower being
of the last-mentioned period. It stands just outside the ancient
gateway of the Priory, and contains a very elegant sacellum,
erected in 1867, in which are preserved the remains of the founder
and foundress, previously mentioned. This church formerly had
chapels dedicated to SS. Katherine and Erasmus, which have
disappeared. There are many inscriptions to the Newton,
Verrall, and other families. Near it is a curious and picturesque
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old Elizabethan mansion, which was built with part of the
materials of the Priory, by William Newton, Esq., steward of
Lord Buckhurst, Earl of Dorset. It has quaint gables and win-
dow frames. The date on the mantel-piece of the dining-room
shows the year of its erection to be 1572. It was the residence
of the Newton family, until within the last few years; but now
belongs to Captain Wyndham. In the time of the late Colonel
11:T ewton, George IV., when Prince-Regent, was a frequent visitor
ere. :

Leaving the west end of Southover at the point where the road
to Newhaven and Seaford commences, and passing along Win-
terbourne Lane (so-called from a pellucid stream which runs
only during the winter season), we reach the Spital, or hospital
of St. Nicholas, just mentioned. Close to this is the large county
gaol. Descending towards the town we see the church of St.
Anne, anciently St. Mary Westout. Outside the western walls
of Lewes there formerly stood two churches, St. Peter and St.
Mary. The houses of the former parish principally contained
in what was called Antioch Street (possibly a reminiscence of
the Crusades), were burnt down in the 16th century, and the two
parishes were united under the name of St. Anne. The church
thus designated is an Early English structure, and contains
some interesting features, especially a barrel-shaped font with
fretwork ornaments, probably of Saxon date. Near the church
is ¢ Shelley’s,” so-called from its having long been the seat of a
branch of that eminent Sussex family. Dr. Johnson, on a visit
to the Thrales at Brighton, once spent a day at this mansion,
and a hitherto unrecorded anecdote may here be given. The
philosopher was walking in the garden with alittle Miss Shelley,
two or three years old, in his hand, until at last, being tired of
her companionship, he deliberately placed her between the
branches of a cherry-tree, and there left her. At dinner time
there was a hue and cry after the child, and Johnson, recollect-
ing himself, said, “ O, I left her in a tree!” The tree survived
this incident until within recent years, and was always known
a8 “ Dr. Johnson’s cherry-tree.” Near this house is the gram-
mar-school, founded about 1512, by Dame Agnes Morley ; and,
still further down the street, there stood till lately a building
called St. Anne’s House, long the pleasant abode of the writer
of these pages, but now replaced by a modern structure of the
metropolitan cut. That house had many historical remem-
brances, it having been the abode, in the time of James L, of
John Rowe, principal of Clifford’s Inn, a great lawyer and an
eminent local antiquary ; and subsequently, the property of Sir
Roger Newdigate, founder of the Newdigate prize for English
poetry at Oxford. The town was formerly fortified with walls,
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the West-gate of which we next approach ; the others being the
East-gate and the Water-gate ; but the traces of allare now very
slight. St. Mickael’s Church, hard by, has a few ancient features,
but it was chiefly rebuilt in the worst taste of the 18th century.
Its round tower, however, remains, as well as two brasses;
one for a knight of the 15th century, and another for Fohes
PWrapvforve, rector, with the date 1457. There is also a mural
monument to Sir Nicholas Pelham, the gallant defender of Sea-
ford, who died in 1559. The epitaph assures us that :—

‘ What time the French sought to have sack’t Sea-Foord,
This Pelham did repel 'em back aboord!”

In this parish are two other places deserving of notice; first,
the old “town house” of the Goring family, long since con-
verted into a Presbyterian chapel, and an ancient dwelling re-
cognised by a singular carving of Pan at one corner, but more
noteworthy as the residence for some time of Tom Paine, the
atheistical writer of the “ Age of Reason,” who was then alocal
exciseman. He wrote that execrable book in this house, and
the table on which he wrote it was, about fifty years since, in
the possession of the late William Lee of this town. In this
parish also resided the late Dr. Gideon Mantell, the celebrated
geologist, who collected the ¢ Mantellian Museum,” of Sussex
fossils, &c., now in the British Museum. A little lower in the
street is the County-hall, for courts of assize and other public
business; a building with a handsome fagade. The original
town-hall stood, before the erection of this edifice, in the
middle of the High-street. Next come two ancient inns, the
White Hart (modernized) and the Star. The latter has some
historical celebrity, for in front of it the Protestants were
burnt during the Marian persecution. In this inn is a very
fine Jacobean staircase brought hither from Slaugham Place
in the last century. In the market-tower, close at hand, is the
great town bell called Gabriel, of the time of Henry VIIL
From this point we pass down School-hill, a steep declivity, to-
wards the site of the ancient monastery of the Grey Friars, of
which no remains exist, the ground being partly occupied by a
very handsome building called the FitzRoy Memorial Library.
This edifice, which cost nearly £5,000, was presented by the
widow of the late Right Hon. Henry Fitzroy (M.P. for Lewes
for more than twenty years), to the town, and it contains a
valuable collection of books, a school of art, &c. Close by is
the bridge over the Ouse, and the suburb called the Cliffe is next
entered. It has a church dedicated to St. Tkomas a Becket, for-
merly a chapel dependent on South Malling. This building,
though principally of the Perpendicular period, with some
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modern churchwardenizations, contains traces of much earlier
architecture. In the south aisle there was formerly a guild or
fraternity of St. Thomas. Passing a sharp angle on the left,
we proceed towards Malling, leaving on the right that remark-
able chasm in the chalk formation called the ¢ Coombe.” Near
at hand is “ Jireh,” one of the largest dissenting chapels in the
county, in the little cemetery of which lie the remains of the
well-known William Huntington, the Hyper-Calvinist, with the
curious epitaph : ¢ Here lies the Coalheaver, beloved of his God,
but abhorred of men. The omniscient Judge, at the grand
assize, shall ratify this to the confusion of many thousands, for
England and its metropolis shall know that there hath been a
prophet among them.—W. H., 8.8.” This was composed by
the deceased himself, an arrogant but clever man, who having
married the widow of a Lord Mayor, and looking, with a touch
of envy perhaps, at the D.D.’s of the period, gave himself the
title of ¢ Sinner Saved” (8.S.). Malling Church is a simple
fabric, consisting of a nave only, and stands at a considerable
distance from the population. Itwas erected in 1628, under the
will of John Stansfield, Esq., who endowed it as a perpetual
curacy, and one of the foundation stones was laid by his after-
wards eminent grandson, John Evelyn, author of “Sylva,” &ec.,
who records that circumstance in his ¢ Diary.” There are
memorials to the names of Kempe, Spence, Grantham, Court-
hope, Cayley, Brodie, &c.; but the most striking inscrip-
tion is that which records the death, in December, 1836, of
eight persons who were killed in South Street, in this parish, by
a very remarkable avalanche. A vast mass of drifted snow
slipped from its position, on the crest of Cliffe-hill, overturned
a range of cottages, and destroyed these poor people. Malling
was one of the cldest seats of Christianity in the county, and I
have already noticed it in this article. Few remains of it now
exist, and, at some unknown date, the College was removed lower
down the banks of the Ouse to what is called South Malling,
near the present church, to the site of the mansion now pos-
sessed by E. C. Currey, Esq., where it remained until the Re-
formation. This house is still called Malling ¢ Deanery,” and
was long the seat of the ancient family of Spence. Malling
House belongs to the family of Crofts, the representative of
which is Henry Crofts, Esq., of Sompting Abbots. Returning
once more to Lewes proper, we must notice St. Jokn’s Church, a
modern brick structure, which we cannot commend, as it is a
kind of hybrid between a castle and a barn. It supersedes a
very venerable structure, probably of the time of the Confessor,
which was pulled down in 1838 to meet the necessities of an
increased population. Some relics of the old edifice have been
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pregerved and built into the walls of the new, including the
mouldings of a Saxon doorway, and especially an ancient monu-
ment arranged in the form of an arch, with the following in-
scription cut on fifteen stones in two semi-circular lines :— -

.
¢ CLAUDITUR HIO MILES, DANORUM REGIA PROLES ;
MANGNUS NOMEN EI, MANGNXE NOTA PROGENEI :
DeroNENSs MANGNUM, SE MORIBUS INDUIT AGNUM,
PREPETE PRO VITA, FIT PARVULUS ARNACORITA.”

¢ Here is immured a Soldier of the Royal Family of Denmark, whose
name Magnus * bespeaks his distinguished lineage. Relinquishing his
greatness, he assumes the deportment of a lamb, and exchanges a life of
ambition for that of a lowly anchorite.”

Of the history of this person and his connection with the
Kings of Denmark nothing can be discovered. He appears to
have been one of those fanatics who caused themselves to be
shut up within the walls of churches in what were called
inclusoria, and making a vow of silence for life. The inscription
has been regarded as a mortuary epitaph, but it is not so, as the
Rev. E. Turner in an able article, mentioned below, sufficiently
proves. The tradition that he was a Danish marauder slain at
the Wallands, hard by, in a conflict with the English, is totally
unfounded, as the inscription is of the thirteenth century.

The church-yard of St. John occupies part of a very small
camp considered to be Roman, part of the vallum of which is
traceable. There are memorials to the names of Shore, Le Pla,
Campion, Crofts, &c., and one to Thomas Blunt, an eminent
barber of Lewes, who made several donations to the borough,
including a silver-gilt loving-cup, still used on festive occasions.
The inscription on his tomb is in Latin, and records his various
bequests. The last couplet is to this effect :—

“ These gifts he gave, this done, himself to death is given;
These gifts he gave, and thus received the gifts of heaven!”

All Saints’ Churck is also a plain, inelegant building, erected
in 1807, with the exception of the tower, which is in the Per-
pendicular style. There are memorials for the names of Trayton,
Durrant, Isted, Blunt, Woollgar, and for John Stansfield, Gent.,
the founder of Malling church. There are traces of many
churches now destroyed. Near the top of School-hill stood St.
Nicholas, or the ‘“broken church,” the remembrance of which
is retained in the name of St. Nicholas (sulgo Dolphin) lane. St.
Mary’s-lane, vulgo * Simmery-lane,” was named after a now des-
troyed church, some remains of which are supposed to exist in
the cellar of the house of Mr. Richards, nearly opposite the Star

* Misspelt Mangnus.
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hotel. In what is called Campion’s lane stood the church of St.
Andrew ; and near the office of the *Sussex Advertiser ” was
another church dedicated to St. Mary in Foro, as the market
was in early times held near that spot. A few yards distant, St.
Martin’s-lane indicates a church under the invocation of that
famous military saint, who shared his cloak with a poor frozen
beggar. These churches all stood on the south side of the High-
street. St. Swithin’s-lane also probably indicates the existence
of a church dedicated to that saint. Lewes abounds with dis-
senting chapels of nearly every denomination, and possesses a
Roman Catholic chapel, lately erected.

The town was for a long time in a stationary position, and the
population did not increase ; but of late an impetus has been
given to the building trade. Some excellent houses have sprung
up, and it is believed that in a few years Lewes will be second
to few towns near the South Coast, especially should Mr. W. E.
Baxter’s project for a new suburb, ¢ Wallands Park,” be carried
out. The natural and artificial advantages of the town are very
great indeed.

Among the eminent residents or natives of Lewes must be
reckoned Sir Thomas Browne, author of * Religio Medici;”
Richard Challenor, D.D., the celebrated Roman Catholic bishop
and theologian, born 1691; Paul Dunvan, author of a “History of
Lewes and Brighthelmstone” (1795) ; John Elliot, the antiquary,
born 1725 ; John Evelyn, author of ¢ Sylva,” &c.; the Rev. T. W.
Horsfield, the historian of Sussex, who died in 1837 ; Dr. Gideon
Mantell, F.R.S., the renowned geologist ; Richard Russell, M.D.,
the founder of Brighton, born 1687; John Tabor, M.D., the
eminent physician and antiquary; Thomas Twyne, M.D., the
great physician and classical scholar, who lies buried in St.
Anne’s church, with a very quaint inscription, dated 1613 ; James
Lambert, a local self-taught artist of the last century, whose
drawings of Sussex antiquities are in the Burrell Collections in
the British Museum ; John Dudeney, the philosophical shepherd
and schoolmaster (ob. 1852) ; John Rowe, lawyer and antiquary
(see ante). Edmund Dudley, the well-known minister of Henry
VII., and the co-extortioner of Richard Empson, was the son of
a travelling carpenter who settled at Lewes Priory, and there
Edmund is said to have received his education. :

The following is a list of the Benefices of Lewes :—

All Saints, Rectory.—Patron, C. Goring, Esq. ; held by the Rev. Robt.
Straffen, M.A.; value, £206. Population in 1861, 2,092.

St. Anne.—Patron,the Lord Chancellor; £190; Rector, Rev. Augustus
J. Parsons, M. A., of Trinity College, Cambridge. Population, 980.

Southover, 8t. John the Baptist.—The same Patron and Incumbent ;
value, £97. Population, 1,344.

St. John-sub-Castro.—Patron, Rev. C. D. Crofts, M.A.; Rector, Rev.
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" Arthur Pearson Perfect, M.A.; value, £250. Population, 2,308.
This parish has a considerable rural district, extending widely, and
partly detached from the town. Within its limits lie Landport, a large
farm, and Allington, where there was formerly a moated manor-house
and a chapel. The intersecting parish is Hamsey.

St. Michael—Patron, the Lord Chancellor ; Rector, the Rev. Frederick
Woolley, B.C.L.; value, £116. Population, 1,076.

St. Thomas at Cliffe.—A peculiar ; Patron, the Archbishop ; Rector, the
Rev. J. C. Russell, M.A,, of St. Peter’s College, Cambridge ; value,
£130. Population, 1,568.

South Malling.— A Peculiar; Patron, @. C. Courthope, Esq. ; Perpetual
Curate or Vicar, Rev. John Warburton ; value, £117. Population,
716. In this parish is the quasi hamlet of Stoneham, formerly attached
to the Deanery of Malling. It was anciently a Beadlewick, and now
principally consists of two good farms. The acreage is 2,680.

The Precinct of the Castle (extra parochial), contains a population of 32.

8. A.C. In consequence of the great antiquity and historical interest
of Lewes, the number of references to that place in the “ Sussex Arche-
ological Collections” is necessarily large, and the paper by the late Mr.
W. Figg, F.S.A., should be especially referred to.—Relics found at, i, 43.
Priory, and its seals, ii, 7. Battle of, ii, 28. v, 274. xix, 164. Dudeney,
John, ii, 252. Priory, iii, 185, 230. vi, 258. vii, 217. xviii, 58. xx, 141,
187. South Malling College, v, 127 (Turner). Seal, viii, 270. Arch-
deaconry seal, v, 199. British urn, tbid. Malling watermills, Domesday, v,
271. King John’s visit, ii, 133. King Henry III,, ii, 137. King Edward
I, 1388. Lantern in Priory (Figg). Dr. Burton's description of the town
 Iter Sussex.” Kidder family, ix, 128. Newton family (Noyes), ix, 312.
xvi, 49. xvii, 258. Royal mint, ix, 369. xix, 164,189. xx, 214 (Lucas).
Star Hotel. Slaugham staircase, drawn by N. H. Lower, x, 163. Medieval
pottery, x, 193. xviii, 190. The Castle a Prison? x, 213. Goring family,
xi, 64. Woughton, Tortington Priory, had lands at (possibly Offham, in
Hamsey), xi, 110. Magnus,or Mangnus, Prince and Hermit, at St. John's,
and Hermitess of St. Mary, xii, 132, 134. Memorials of Old Lewes, xiii,
1 (Figg). Lord Goring's residence, xiii, 13. xix, 100. Lewes Priory,
license to fortify, xiii, 112. Southover, Heneage family Prayer-book, xii,
315. Newdigates and Bromfields, xiv, 229. Dr. Russell, the founder of
Brighton, xiv, 266. Old Malling, earliest seat of Christianity in East
Sussex, xv, 163. Burdett, of Southover, xx, 66. Sufferings of Lewes
Quakers (‘Figg), xvi, 65. Rickman family, xvi, 72. Church bells, xvi,
205, 216. Rowe, John, xx, 85, Southover Free-school, xvii, 79. Colonel
H. Morley, M.P., ironmaster, xviii, 14. Complicity of the Prior, con-
stables, and people of Lewes and Southover, with Jack Cade, and their
pardons, xviii, 25, et seq. Prior of, xviii, 44. Museum of Antiquities in
the Castle (Lower and Chapman), xviii, 60. De Braose effigy at South-
over, xviii, 62. Shirley family, xviii, 183. Castle, xviii, 176. Thomas
Lucas, merchant, 1634, xviii, 176. Cliffe old Vicarage, xviii, 195. Giles,
bell-founder, xix, 48. Whitfeld family, xix, 90 (Lower). Fitzherbert
family, xix, 179. The “ Friars,” xix, 179. Stempe family, and Springett
family, xx, 35. Heath family, xx, 62. Banns published in Market, xx, 83.
Rev. R. Cecil, anecdote, xx, 133. Lewes Races, xx, 227.]
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LINCH (or Lynch).

Domesday, Lince; a parish in the Hundred of Easebourne ; Rape of Chi-
chester ; distant five miles north-west from Midhurst, its Post-town,
Union, and Railway-station. Population in 1811, 84 ; in 1861, 111.
Benefice, a Rectory, valued at £80; Patron, the Earl of Egmont;
Incumbent, Rev. R. Cooke Bull, M.A., of Emmanuel College, Cam-
bridge. Date of earliest Parish Register,1701. Acreage, 1,220. Chief
Landowner, The Earl of Egmont. Seat, Hollycombe, B. F. Pratt, Esq.

This parish is composed of “disjecta membra,” of which
about 700 acres lie at the northern foot of the South Downs
(Linch Farm), and the remainder about six miles northward, in
the romantic, but unproductive, neighbourhood of Farnhurst.

Lince was held before the Conquest of Edward the Confessor,
by Ulric. It was rated at five hides. There were six plough-
lands, a church, two ministri, and a wood of 10 hogs. In 1570
it was part of the estate of Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, and subse-
quently became the property of the Viscountess Montague.
Hollycombe, the residence of Barlow Frederick Pratt, Esq., was
built from a design by Nash, and was formerly inhabited by Sir
Charles William Taylor, Bart.

The benefice anciently belonged to the Priory of Easebourne.
The present church was erected about 1705,

[S.A.C. Ironworks, i, 214. Chapel of, xii, 73. Church-bell, xvi, 217.]

LINCHMERE (or Lynchmere).

A parish in the Hundred of Easebourne; Rape of Chichester ; distant about
five miles from Midhurst; Post-town, Haslemere ; Union, Midhurst.
Population in 1811, 258 ; in 1861, 283. Benefice, a Perpetual Cu-
racy, valued at £60; Patron and Incumbent, Rev. W. Henry Parson,
M.A., of Magdalen Hall, Oxford. Date of earliest Parish Register,
1560. Acreage, 2,101. Chief Landowners, The Earl of Egmont,
the Rev. W. H. Parson, Hasler Hollist, Esq., and Mrs. Harriott.

This frontier parish abuts on the counties of Hampshire
and Surrey, and its surface includes arable, pasture, woodland,
and heath, while the subsoil yields peat. At an early period it
was held by the Percys. It then became the property of the
Fitz-Alans, and at a later date it belonged to Sir William Fitz
William ; and subsequently it descended as Cowdray. The
church (St. Peter) is small and interesting, and was restored in
1856. The scenery is very picturesque.

For SEULBRED PRIORY, in this parish, see that article.

8. A. C. Ironworks, ii, 213. Shulbred Priory, vii, 217. xviii, 195,
Church, xii, 82. Church-bells, xvi, 217.]
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LINDFIELD.

Vulgo, Linvul; a parish in the Hundred of Burleigh-Arches; Rape of
Pevensey; distant 3} miles east from Cuckfield. It is a Post-town.
Railway station, Hayward’s Heath, distant about 1} mile. Union,
Cuckfield. Population in 1811, 1,287 ; in 1861, 1,917. Benefice,
a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £100; Patron, W. M. Kearnes, Esq.;
Incumbent, Rev. J. Milner, M.A. Date of earliest Parish Register,
1559. Acreage, 5,776. Seats, Pax-Hill Park, P. Northall Laurie,
Esq.; Buxshalls, W. D. Jollands, Esq.; Gravelye, Summer Hill,
Beadle Hill, Sunte House, Oat Hall, The Welkin, Milton House, and
Little Walsted.

Lindfield is situated in a most picturesque country, and its
broad village street, with its antique timbered houses, is exceed-
" ingly interesting. Any one tired of the bustle of this changeful
life might safely retire to Lindfield as one of the most peaceful
spots in Britain. Its name appears to be derived from the
Anglo-Saxon /linde, a linden, or lime tree, and fe/d, a field.

The manor anciently belonged to the College of Malling near
Lewes, and was thence known as the manor of South-Mal-
ling-Lindfield. Tradition speaks of a convent in this parish,
but of its history and situation I can obtain no particulars,
There are several ancient residences. Pax-Hill is a stone man-
gion, built late in the reign of Elizabeth, on an elevated spot,
and surrounded with a deer park. It was long the residence of
a branch of the Boord or Board family, and the last male heir
of that line dying in 1787, left it to his three daughters and
co-heiresses, one of whom married Gibbs Crawfurd, Esq., whose
grand-daughter was wife of Arthur W. W, Smith, Esq. Albert
Smith, brother of the latter, the well-known comic lecturer and
writer, built a chdlet near the park, and occasionally resided
there. Kenwardes, an ancient building, now occupied as a farm-
house, was long a seat of the old Sussex family of Chaloner, or
Challener, of whom was Major Chaloner, a partizan of Crom-
well. He was an influential magistrate, and many /oy marriages
were performed before him. KEast Maskalls formerly belonged
to a family of that name, and was owned, in the seventeenth cen-
tury, by a branch of the Newtons, of the same family as the
Newtons of Southover, near Lewes, from whom it descended to
the family of Noyes. The mansion was constructed in the old
timber-framed style, and was long in a very ruinous condition,
and tenanted by cottagers. The arms of the Newtons, in painted
glass, were formerly in the windows. Sir Isaac Newton is sup-
posed to have been a connection of an earlier line of this family.
Sunte belonged to the family of Hamlyn. John Hamlyn, Esq.,
who died in 1774 left two daughters and co-heiresses. Anne,
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the elder, married John Borrer, Egq. of Henfield, and after-
wards John Dennet, Esq., of Woodmancote : it is now the seat
of George Catt, Esq. Buxshalls, supposed to have been the
residence of a branch of the ancient family of Boxhulle of Ro-
bertsbridge, one of whom was K., G. in the reign of Edward IIT.,
is a pleasant modern erection on an ancient site. Paper works
were formerly carried on in this parish.

The church (St. John the Baptist), principally in the Perpen-
dicular style, is a picturesque object. The tower seems to be
Early English, and has a shingled spire. The building is
cruciform, and on the south is a parvise, or small apartment
over the entrance. The north transept was rebuilt, during the
repairs which the building underwent some years ago. Those
repairs were carried out without the smallest regard to pro-
priety or respect for antiquity. Some of the most beautiful
fragments of fourteenth-century glass I ever saw were re-
moved from one of the south windows, and a brass plate to the
memory of Rpchary Challener, which I remember 2 sitw, on a
stone on the floor, now lies before me. It bears the date of 1501.
Beautiful wood carvings were also removed from the church ; in
short, there was a general spoliation of nearly all that was
ancient. There are, or were, mortuary inscriptions to the names
of Allen, Board, Burrell, Wildbee, Spence, &c. A Perpendicular
altar-tomb has been removed, and the brasses of a slab repre-
senting a man, woman, and seven children have also been taken
away. All this spoliation, which grieves the antiquary’s heart,
is owing to the singular ecclesiastical condition of the parish.
It was, at a very early date, one of the * peculiars” of the Arch-
bishops of Canterbury, and as such was granted by Archbishop
Theobald, in 1150, to the College of Malling. On the dissolu-
tion of that establishment, in 1546, it was given to Sir Thomas
Palmer of Angmering, a gentleman of the Privy Chamber of
Henry VIII., an enormous acquirer of church property in Sussex,
and it remained in lay hands, the holder being bound to repair
the chancel and provide an * honest priest” for the services of
the church. This poor cleric got about £30 a year, and some-
times as little as £20, while the impropriator derived a large
sum from the parish in tithes, &e. This led to a very lax state
of things; the Archbishop declined to interfere, and not unfre-
quently no service was held. Even worse than this, the last
rites of the church could hardly be performed, and it is said
that within the nineteenth century bodies of deceased par-
ishioners have remained in the church for several days for want
of an officiating priest ! A better state of things, however, now
prevails. -A curious ¢ Boke of Accompts’ of the parish, dating
from 1580, came into the hands of the Sussex Archeeological
Society some years since, but is now in proper custody. It is
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full of interesting matter, and an abstract of it has been printed
in vol. xix of the ¢ Collections.” It appears from this document
that the inhabitants did all in their power to maintain the fabric
of the church, and that they were particularly fond of bell ring-
ing. There are at present five bells.

It may be mentioned that there isin the church a very unusual
sepulchral effigy, impressed or incised on three glazed tiles, the
entire size of the memorial being 45 inches by 15: the date is
1520. In 1848 a curious mural painting was disclosed on the east
wall of the south transept. It represented the Archangel St.
Michael and St. Margaret, with a dragon of many heads at their
feet. The Archangel held a pair of scales, in which he was
weighing the souls of the dead.

Altogether there are in Sussex few parishes of more interest
than Lindfield, either for the antiquary or the artist. The well-
known and respected Sussex family of Verral seem to have ori-
ginated here, and the name was formerly written Fairkall.

[S. A. C. Mural paintings, ii, 129. Iron-works, ii, 214. xix, 41. Borde
family, vi, 197. xix, 40, 43,48, xx, 61. Newtons of East Mascalls, ix, 312.
xvii, 259. xix,40, 48, 49. Nunnery (?), x, 213. Paxhill and its neighbour-
hood (Blencowe), xi,i. East Mascalls, xi, i, 83. Trimmens Columbarium,
xi, 5. Chaloners of, xi, 12. xiv, 149. xviii, 25, 89. xix, 37, 40,49. Ham-
lyns of, xi, 81. xix, 48. Henslows of, xiv, 47. Vine, schoolmaster and an-
tiquary of, xiv, 227. xix, 195. Combers of, xvi, 48. Giles of, xvi, 48. Bells
of, xvi, 217. Men of, and Jack Cade, xviii, 25. Tuppens of, xviii, 162. Pa-
rochial Documents, xix, 36 (Lower). Granted to the College of Malling, thid.
Killingbeck, xix, 88. Roodloftin church, xix, 37. Finches in, xix, 40,48.
Scrase bridge in, xix,41. Skaymes Hill in, xix, 41. Bedles Hill in, xix,
41. Suntin, xix, 41, 48. Hour-glass in the church, xix, 43. Subscription
to Cumberland churches, ibid. Books of Martyrs, &ec., &c., belonged to
the church, xix, 47. xx,225. Church-marks at, xix, 48. Gravelygh in,
xix, 48. Oate-Hall in, xix, 48. Boxhulles in, éid. Pelling of Pelling-
bridge, xix, 49. Bartlott of, xix, 51.]

LITLINGTON.

Vulgo, Lillinton; a parish in the Hundred of Longbridge; Rape of
" Pevensey; distant about four miles from Seaford ; Post-town, Lewes;
Railway station, Berwick, distant about three miles. Union, East-
bourne. Population in 1811, 117 ; in 1861, 184. Benefice, a Rectory,
valued at £105; Patrons, Representatives of Rev. Thomas Scutt; In-
cumbent, Rev. Richard White, B.A., of Durham University. Date of
earliest Parish Register, 1695. Acreage, 898. Chief Landowner, T. 8.
Richardson, Esq. Seat, Clapham House, at present the residence of

C. T. Latrobe, Esq., C.B., formerly Governor of Victoria.

A small South Down parish on the river Cuckmere. The



32 HISTORY OF SUSSEX.

etymology is obvious. The manor is a sub-infeudation of Bishop-
ston. Henry II. it was the property of the family of
Husée, or sz)satus who gave arent from a mill here to Dureford
Abbey in West Sussex. Since that time it has been held by
Hunt, Rootes, Pelham, Mallory, Bean, and Scutt. Chambers
Court now destroyed, received its name from the ancient family
of Dela Chambre, originally of Chambers Court, in Laughton,
and subsequently of Rodmill, Denton, and Seaford. One of the
name was at Agincourt.

The church consists of a nave, chancel, and bell-turret, with a
spire. Of the three bells one is inscribed to St. John. The
chancel and other portions are Norman. The west end is Deco-
rated or earlier. Two sedilia, a piscina, and traces of a rood-
loft remain; also in the north wall of the chancel a Perpendicular
tomb-arch. (Hussey.) On the floor was a fractured stone, marked
with crosses, which was originally the altar. In the north-west
angle of the nave is a very small newel staircase. The church
has recently been restored, at an expense of £600. Here are ex-
tensive nursery, fruit, and pleasure gardens, beautifully situated
on rising ground near the river Cuckmere.

[8. A. C. Marshall gifts to, xiii, 52. Chambers of, xiii, 258. xiv, 213.
De la Chambre at Agincourt, xv, 181. Bells, xvi, 141, 217.]

LITTLEHAMPTON, or HAMPTON-PARVA.

Domesday, Hantone; aparish in the Hundred of Poling ; Rape of Arundel ;
distant four miles from Arundel. Itis a Post-town, and has aRailway
station on the South Coast line. Union, East Preston. Population in
1811, 882 ; in 1861, 2,350. Benefice, a Vicarage, valued at £175;
Patron, the Bishop of Chichester; Incumbent, Rev. Charles Rum-
ball, B.A., of Magdalen Hall, Oxford. Date of earliest Parish Re-
glster 1642 Acreage, 1, 299.

Littlehampton is bounded on the south by the English
Channel, and on the west by the Arun. Itisthe port of Arundel,
and enjoys a considerable coasting trade, which has of late years
added materially to the population. Before the Conquest, the
Countess Goda, daughter of Ethelred II., had a hide in this
manor. Afterwards it belonged to Earl Roger de Montgomeri.
Before the confiscation of the alien priories, the French abbeys
of Seez and Almanesche had lands here. At the Dissolution
these lands came into the possession of the Crown, and the manor
of Littlehampton, cum Tottington (in Lyminster), was sold in
1562, to John Palmer, Esq., of Angmering. Sir Thomas Palmer,
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his son, succeeded in 1571. In 1712 Thomas, Duke of Norfolk,
purchased the lands which now belong to the present Duke of
Norfolk. Baylies Court is an outlying portion of this parish,
that of Climping intervening. As is usual with Sussex rivers,
the Arun has been driven by the force of the south-west winds,
which tend by the accumulation of shingle, to the east. By this
alteration the outlet of the river is now in Climping. In 1784,
an Act was passed for erecting piers and repairing Arundel
Harbour in the parish of Littlehampton. In 1739 a small
battery was constructed for the protection of the port, and a
new one has been built on the west side of the river. Ship-
building is carried on here to a considerable extent, and Little-
hampton has lately become a watering-place of considerable
attractions. It is quiet, and possesses the advantages of agree-
able scenery, a pure air, and excellent sea-sands. Regattas and
races are annually held.

The Empress Maude is said to have landed here in 1189, on a
visit to Queen Adeliza at Arundel, after which she was besieged
there by King Stephen.

The church (Our Lady) having been found too small for the
population was taken down in 1826, and a larger one erected.
In the new church the east window, a round-headed doorway,
and the ancient font have been preserved. There is one bell.
The ecclesiastical history of this parish is very curious. At the
confiscation of the churchlands by Henry V., on the dissolution
of the alien priories before mentioned, a portion of them was
granted to the Nunnery of Sion in Middlesex, and the other
portion to the College of Arundel. The latter establishment
found an officiating priest for the cure of souls, who was styled
¢ Clericus conductitius,” or removable curate. In the time of
Henry VIII., Henry, Earl of Arundel, became possessed of the
lands which had belonged to Arundel College, and his moiety
was transferred by him to John Edmondes, Esq. The other
moiety was retained by the Crown till 3rd Elizabeth, when, by
an exchange, it passed to the see of Chichester, and the Bishop
became impropriator, the vicarage being held under seques-
tration.

Tanner mentions a Priory in Littlehampton called Athering-
ton ; but this seems to rest upon the assumption that the monks
of Seez had a cell here, whereas it appears that there was only
a single monk resident, who acted as Bailiff, and hence the place
acquired the name of Baylie’s Court.

[8. A. C. Church, xii, 92. Baldwins, xii, 92. Edmondes, ib¢d. Holy-
bread land, xiv, 155. Church bell, xvi,217. Arun river, xvi, 259.]
VOL. 1I. ) D
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LODSWORTH.

A Parish locally in the Hundred of Easebourne; Rape of Chichester ;
distant 31 miles west from Petworth, its Post town and Railway sta-
tion. Union, Midhurst. Population in 1811, 393; in 1861, 629.
Benefice, a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £56. Patron, the Earl of Eg-
mont ; Incumbent, Rev. C. Leopold 8. Clarke, M.A., of New College,
Oxford. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1563. Acreage, 1,805.
Chief Landowners, The Earl of Egmont, W. T. Mitford, J. Henry,
and H. Hollist, Esquires. Seats, Lodsworth House, Hasler Hollist,
Esq.; Blackdown House, James Henry, Esq. (see Lurgashall.)

This long and narrow parish is intersected in its southern
portion by the Western Rother, which is here crossed by a
bridge. The parish is famous for its growth of apples.

The Liberty of Lodsworth, which is co-extensive with the
parish, possesses remarkable privileges, viz.—exemption from
hundred-courts, from tolls in any fair or market, and from the
jurisdiction of the sheriff—but the bailiff of the Bishop of London
18 to return all writs. A three-weeks’ court may be held for re-
covery of debts by a jury of free suitors, with imprisonment for
debt within the gaol belonging to the liberty. No inquisitions
post-mortem are to be held for lands, &e. These immunities and
privileges are set forth in an Inspeximus dated 8rd Henry VI.,
1425. The parish was an early appendage to the see of London
and these peculiar rights were granted by one of the Bishops,
but what the parish gained in temporal matters it lost in
spiritual, for the cure of souls of the church of St. Peter de-
volved on a stipendiary priest, while the great tithes accrued to
St. Paul’s. This was literally “robbing Peter to pay Paul.”
The manor was granted by Henry VIIL to Sir Anthony Browne,
who annexed it to Cowdray, with which it has ever since passed.
Lodsworth House, the seat of Hasler Hollist, Esq., is & modern
mansion with a tower, in a small but beautiful park. Mr. Hollist
took the name in exchange from Capron, afamily who held lands
in Lodsworth in the thirteenth century.

The church (St. Peter) is sometimes described as a chapel to
Easebourne. It consists of a nave, chancel, transepts, aisles,
and a square tower, and has been almost entirely rebuilt within
the last few years. It contains several memorials for the fami-
lies of Hollist and Bridger. Of the old manor-house adjacent
to the churchyard the following account was printed a few
years since :—“ It is now a farmhouse and much shorn of its
former dimensions. Many of its rooms are miuch dilapidated.
One or two heavy buttresses and a pointed window partly blocked
up remain, and in the kitchen is a good fire back with the arms
of the 1st Viscount Montague, with sixteen quarterings and
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supporters. There is a dungeon in the house.” This may have
been the “liberty prison” of Lodsworth. The site of the
“liberty gallows > is pointed out at a place called Galley-hill.

[8. A. C. FitzHeriz lands belonging to priory of Hardham, xi, 114.
Chapel, xii, 94. Rents to Boxgrove,xv, 119. Bells, xvi,217. Liberty and
gaol, xx, 31.]

LOXWOOD (or Loxwood End).

A hamlet and ancient chapelry of Wisborough Green. The
chapel was erected by license of Bishop Robert , in 1414.
Three maiden sisters are said to have improved and endowed it
about 1540, It consists of nave and chancel.

LULLINGTON.

Vaulgo, Linkun, or Little Chapel, a Parish in the Hundred of Alciston;
Rape of Pevensey ; distant nine miles south-east from Lewes, which is
its Post-town. Railway station, Berwick, distant about three miles.
Union, Eastbourne. Population in1811,48; in 1861,16! Benefice,
a Vicarage, valued at £40; Patron, the Bishop of Chichester; Se-
questrator, Rev. Henry Kelson, M.A., of Sidney-Sussex College,
Cambridge. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1721. Acreage, 1,162,

This South Down parish has one of the smallest populations

. in the county; as also the smallest church, the interior of which

measures only about 16 feet square. It is, however, only the

chancel of the original Early English structure. This parish
was originally a chapelry to Alciston.

About forty years since a gentleman attended morning service here,
when the congregation amounted to twelve persons. The curate was a
remarkably diminutive man: he preached from John xi, 35, and the
offertory realized 18d.—upon which the stranger remarked that it was
the smallest church, the smallest parson, the shortest text, and the
smallest collection he had ever witnessed.

The manor was held 28th Elizabeth by Sir Philip Sydney. It
afterwards passed to the Sackvilles, whose descendants still
possess it. The Woodhams family have held the farm for many
generations.

[B. A. C. Domesday watermill, v, 271. Marshall’s legacy, xiii, 52.

Bell, xvi, 217. Manor to Battle Abbey, xvii, 54. Stone of, xvii, 151.
‘Woodhams family, xvii, 241. A Lullington man in Cade’s rebellion, xviii,

27.]
D 2
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LURGASHALL.

A parish in the Hundred of Rotherbridge ; Rape of Arundel; distant
five miles north-west from Petworth, its Post-town and Railway
station. Union, Midhurst. Population in 1811, 549 ; in 1861, 727.
Benefice, a Rectory, valued at £463; Patron, Lord Leconfield ;
Incumbent, Rev. Septimus Fairles, B.A., of St. John’s College,
Cambridge. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1559. Acreage,
4,850. Chief Landowners, Lord Leconfield, Lord Egmont, W. T.
Mitford, Esq., and Hasler Hollist, Esq. Seat, Blackdown Cottage,
General Yaldwin.

The ancient spellings Lodekersale, Lotegershale, &c., justify
the derivation of the name of this parish from Leodgarius
(corruptly Leger), whose aula or hall it probably was, in Saxon
times. The situation is truly romantic, and from Blackdown
Hill views certainly unequalled in Sussex for grandeur and
variety can be obtained. This hill, which is of triangular form,
lies half in this parish—the rest in Lodsworth and Farnhurst.
It is a remarkable cropping up of the greensand formation, and
rises towards Lurgashall to a bold promontory 800 feet above the
level of the sea. It is covered with furze, holly, and timber, and
from its grand and sombre appearance well deserves its name.
Blackdown House, just over the border of the parish, in Lods-
worth, is one of the most romantically situated mansions in
West Sussex. It was partly built in 1640, by William Yaldwin,
Esq., who was High Sheriff of the county in 1656, and a partisan
of Cromwell; and from this circumstance tradition has inti-
mately associated Blackdown with that personage. The estate
belonged for eight generations to the Yaldwins, from William
Yaldwin, who died in 1590, to the present William Henry
Yaldwyn, Esq., who has recently sold it to James Henry, Esq.
The manors in the parish are Diddlesfold and River. About
half the great stag park of Petworth is in Lurgashall, and the
lords of Petworth have until lately paid a modus of a fat buck
and doe to the parson, who at present receives £10 in lieu thereof.

The church (St. Lawrence) consists of a nave and chancel,
with a tower and shingled spire on the south side. The chancel
(Early English) was rebuilt some years since, and the tower is
of the Perpendicular period. Adjoining the south porch, to the
west, is an open cloister of timber frame, which is said to have
been built for the accommodation of remote parishioners who
therein ate their dinner between matins and evensong. The
nave, in 1866, 7, underwent thorough preservation, and in the
course of removing the plaster from both sides of the walls,
very ancient herringbone masonry, and a north door (I think
unquestionably Saxon) were discovered. On the plaster inside
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were disclosed three rude coats of arms, probably of the 14th
century. I. Ten annulets, 4, 8, 2, 1; IL. Five fusils—Dawtry
of Petworth. IIL. Chequy—the arms of Lewes Priory. The
last coat is accounted for by the fact that Seffrid IL., Bishop of
Chichester, 1180-1204, granted this church to the Priory of
Lewes, which held it until the Dissolution. The building, which
ig full of interesting features, contains many memorials for the
Yaldwyns of Blackdown. The parish reckons among its rectors
& William Cobden, James Bramston, author of “The Art of
Politics,” and Nicholas Turner, brother of Charlotte Smith. (See
“Worthies of Sussex,” pp. 58 and 15.) In this parish and that
of Chiddingfold, just over the Surrey border, are to be found
varlous members of the supposed Saxon family of Enticknapp,
now in plebeian condition, and called by their neighbours and
themselves Emlet.

[8. A. C. Bhelvestrode family, xii, 29. Church, xii, 74. James Bram-
ston, xiv, 8. Bells, xvi, 217. River Rother, xvi, 260.]

LYMINSTER, or LEOMINSTER.

Vulgo, Limster; a parish in the Hundred of Poling; Rapeof Arundel;
near its Post-town, Arundel. Union, East Preston. Population in
1811, 554 ; in 1861, 801. Benefice, a Vicarage, valued at £350;
Patron, the Bishop of London ; Incumbent, Rev. Matthew Enraght,
M.A., of Trinity College, Dublin. Date of earliest Parish Register,
1556. Acreage, 3,230. There are several excellent mansions and
residences in the parish, and in its tything Warningcamp.

The etymology of this name is ¢ Leonis monasterium,”
the convent of St. Leo. It is found in records as Lolinminster,
and sometimes Nonneminster, from a nunnery which existed
here in ancient times. About half the parish is meadow and
brook land, in the valley of the Arun. The earliest mention of
the place is in the will of King Alfred, who bequeaths it to his
nephew Osferd. Whether this place or the town in Hereford-
shire is the place from which Suane, son of Earl Godwin, in-
veigled the Abbess,is uncertain. (See Pevensey.) From Domesday
it appears that it was held in demesne by the Confessor, and after
the Conquest by Earl Roger. It then contained twenty hides
never taxed. There were forty-four ploughlands, sixty-eight
villeins, and forty-three cottagers, achurch, a mill, and two
salt-pans, and wood for thirty swine. Its value was £50. Robert
held a small estate, which, temp. Confessor, had belonged to Azor,
and was worth 10s.

The manor followed the descent of the earldom of Arundel,
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until it was transferred by sale, temp. Elizabeth, to Richard
Knight, of Chawton, co. Hants. In 1679 it devolved by the
wife of Sir Richard Knight to Richard Martin, son of Michael
Martin, by Frances, daughter and co-heiress of Sir Christopher
Lewknor, after a circuitous descent through female heirs, whose
husbands successively took the name of Knight. In 1786, T.
May Knight, Esq., sold the manor to Charles Goring, Esq., of
Wiston, with whose representative it remains.

CourTwick, formerly called “Powers in Wyke,” was granted
by Henry IIL to Stephen le Power, and it descended in the
female line to the Apsleys and Bellinghams. At the Reformation
it belonged to the monastery of Tewkesbury, and was granted
by Henry VIII. to Robert Palmer, of Parham. By his descend-
ant it was conveyed in 1722 to James Colebrook, whose son sold
it in 1772 to Richard Bagnall, by whom it was sold in 1774 to
Richard Wyatt, Esq., and his great grandson, Hugh Wyatt,
Esq., LL.D., is the present owner.

Tottington is mentioned in Domesday as a distinct manor,
though held like Lyminster by Azor and by Robert. Totentune
was rated at four hides ; before the Conquest it was rated at
60s., afterwards at 70s. It is now a hamlet lying in the south-
east part of the parish adjacent to Little-Hampton. It belongs
to the Duke of Norfolk.

‘WarNINGOAMP i8 & district or tything comprising about a third
part of the parish, and is bounded by the Arun. Turgod held
““ Warnecha > of the Confessor, and after the Conquest Nigellus
held it. This also was rated at four hides. Temp. Confessoris it
was worth 60s., afterwards 20s., then 50s., so that some calamity
probably befel it at the Norman invasion. The manor of Blake-
hurst, which contains the whole of Warningcamp, has been
possessed by Morley, Geere, Cheale, Whitbread, and Margesson.
It is now annexed to the demesne of Arundel Castle. The area
is 919 acres, and the population in 1861 was 107. 'Warningcamp
was anciently a distinct parish, but it seems to have been eccle-
siastically united with Lyminster before 1292. It is mentioned
a8 a chapelry in 1492. The church or chapel was on the hill to
the north-west of the hamlet, but the last vestiges were removed
in 1847, when a cottage was erected on thesite. Batworth Park
is an ancient appendage to Arundel Castle. It is loftily situated,
and commands a fine view of the Castle. Cavalry barracks were
built here in 1800, but have been removed.

Tae Nusnery of Lyminster was of the Benedictine order,
founded on the basis of the Saxon establishment by an early
member of the De Montgomeri family, soon after the Conquest.
The church and demesnes were then given to the nuns of
Almanesche in Normandy, also founded by Roger de Montgomeri,
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and it continued to be a cell. The convent consisted of a prioress
and four nuns. Temp. Henry V. the possessions were confis-
cated, and later the impropriate tythes were granted as part of
the foundation of Eton College. It is now held by lessees.
The site of the nunnery has been built upon, and no trace of
the ancient walls is left. The Chart farm, formerly part of
the monastic estate, passed through a succession of owners to
the widely-spread and numerous West Sussex family of Duke.

The church (St. Mary Magdalen) comprises west tower, nave,
with north aisle and porch, and an unusually long chancel. The
tower is Transition Norman, but the greater part of the building
is Early English, with Perpendicular insertions. There is a
musical peal of six bells. The chancel arch is of peculiar con-
struction, and very lofty. I have not seen this building, but
from Mr. Hussey’s account of it, it has many points of interest,
though Dallaway describes it as of *the coarse parochial archi-
tecture,” whatever that may mean. It contains monuments for
the families of Blake, Groome, Wyatt, &. In ancient times
there were in this small church altars dedicated respectively to
Our Lady and SSS. Stephen, John, and Catherine.*

The Priory of PynesaM or D CaLcEiro, like Warningcamp,
has long been annexed to this parish. See Pyneham.

[8.A.C. Domesday watermills, v, 271. Manor of Courtwick, x, 213.
Calceto Priory, xi, 89. xviii, 56. Warningcamp (and its vineyard), xi,
102-3. Blakehurst belonged to Tortington Priory, xi, 110. Church, xi,
118. xii, 94. Hobgens of, ibid. Warningcamp chapel, ibid. Ropers of, ibid.
Wyatts of Courtwick, xiii, 303. Lands given to Boxgrove, xv, 97. Madg-
wick of, xvi, 50. Bells, xvi, 216. River Arun at,xvi, 258. Knucker-hole
and its legend, xviii, 180 (Evershed).]

MADEHURST.

A parish in the Hundred of Avisford; Rape of Arundel; distant three
miles north-west from Arundel, its Post-town and Railway station.
Union, West Hampnett. Populationin 1811, 132; in 1861, 208,
Benefice, a Vicarage, valued at £100 ; Patron, John Charles
Fletcher, Esq.; Incumbent, Rev. Henry Nicholls, M.A., of Wadham
College, Oxford. Date of earliest Parish Register 1639. Acreage,
1,908. J. C. Fletcher, Esq., of Dale Park, is owner of the entire
parish.

Dallaway supposes this parish to have formed, originally,
part of Arundel forest. From temp. Edward I. to 1593, or
later, it belonged to the Arundel estate. In the reign of James

# Mr. Gibbon mentions from ancient wills, ¢ the Good Cross of Lyminster,” and
4wo or three curious bequesta.
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1. the manor passed to Sir Garret Kempe of Slyndon, and
James-Anthony, Earl of Newburgh, sold it to Sir George Thomas,
Bart., who died in 1815. That gentleman enclosed the lands
now known as Dale Park, and erected the large and splendid
mansion, from the designs of Bonomi, in 1784. His son aliened
it to Thomas Read Kemp, Esq., M.P., who re-sold it to John
Smith, Esq., M.P. It is now the property and seat of John
Charles Fletcher, Esq.

The church (St. Mary Magdalen), described by Dallaway as
“of the plainest architecture,” was repaired in 1864, when a
north aisle and a new chancel were added, chiefly at the charge
of the patron.

[S. A. C. Hoskyn,xii, 69. Church, xii, 95. Page, xvi, 50. Bells, xvi,
218. Kempes had lands in, xix, 119.]

EAST MARDEN.

A parish in the Hundred of Westbourne ; Rape of Chichester ; distant
eight miles north-west from Chichester; Post-town, Petersfield.
Union, Westbourne. Population in 1811, 52 ; in 1861, 63. Benefice,
a Vicarage, valued at £162; Patron, the Bishop of Chichester; In-
cumbent, Rev. Charles Philip Lyne, M. A., of Queen’s College, Oxford.
Date of earliest Parish Register, 1691. Acreage, 968.

See under Upmarden. The prebend of East Marden in
Chichester Cathedral was founded in the reign of Henry I., pro-
bably by the family of Aguillon, when the manor, which is co-
extensive with the parish, was annexed to it. The prebendary
has usually leased the site and lands for three lives, and thus
the families of Juxon, Brereton, Longcroft, Barwell, and Woods,
lﬁave been lessees. It is now in the hands of W. Leyland Woods,

8q.

The church (St. Peter) is described by Dallaway as having “a,
nave or pace only, and remarkable for great antiquity, from
that circumstance.” A recent account describes it as a hand-
some Early English structure.

[8. A. 0. Church xii, 74. Bell, xvi, 218.]

NORTH MARDEN.

A parish in the Hundred of Westbourne; Rape of Chichester; distant
nine miles north from Chichester. Post-town, Petersfield. Union,
Westbourne. Population in 1811, 23; in 1861, 28. Benefice, a
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Rectory, valued at £70 ; Patron, the Lord of the Manor ; Incumbent,
Rev. Andrew Vogan. Date of earliest Parish Register, 1813. Acre-
age, 682,

See under Upmarden. In 1475 the manor was held by
Sir George Browne, of Betchworth Castle, who was beheaded
by Richard ITL in 1483. It remained in the Crown until it
was granted, by Queen Elizabeth, to William Grenefield. In later
times it belong to the Jenmans and Peckhams, and from the
latter it has descended to Admiral Sir Phipps Hornby.

“The church,” says Horsfield, ‘“has nothing requiring re-
mark.” Tt certainly deserves notice for the apsidal termination
of the chancel, which marks it of the Early Norman period.
There are not more than four or five other instances of the apsis
in the parish churches of Sussex. The rest of the building
appears to be Early English.

[8. A. 0. Church, xvi, 134. Bell, xvi, 218.]

MARESFIELD.

Vulgo, Maresfull; a parish in the Hundred of Rushmonden; Rape of
Pevensey; distant two miles north from Uckfield, its Post-town and
Railway station. Union, Uckfield. Population in 1811, 1,117 ; in
1861, 1,911. Benefice, a Rectory valued at £645 ; Patron, Charles
Salisbury Butler, Esq.; Incumbent, Rev. Edward Turner, M.A., of
Balliol College, Oxford. Date of earliest Parish Register,1538. Acre-
age, 7,750. Chief Landowners, The Representatives of the late Sir
John Shelley, Bart.

The history of this parish has been fully written in the
¢ Sussex Collections,” by the Rev. Edward Turner, Rector. The
soil varies from a stiff loam to'a light sand, while Ashdown
Forest, a large portion of which lies in the parish, belongs to
the iron-sand formation, and is very barren. Its want of fer-
tility is, in some measure, compensated by scenic beauty. The
shape of the parish is irregular; its lengthfrom south east tonorth
west being fully seven miles, while its average breadth is two
only. A nearlyisolated part, called Stumbletts,bordering on West
Hothly and East Grinstead, lies in a deep forest dell, and not
far from their parish churches. Here dwell about forty of the
Maresfield folk at a distance of 64 miles from the parish church.
This hamlet and Pippingford warren are both alluded to by
Horace Smith, in ¢ Brambletye.” Of the origin of the name of
Maresfield we can only guess. In ancient documents it is spelt
Marrysfeld, and Marysfield. As Mr. Turner conjectures, the
district may formerly have been dedicated to St. Mary, though
the church has now another invocation.
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The church (St. Bartholomew), which, with the village, stands
near the southern limit of the parish, is of the Perpendicular
style, but has clearly been engrafted on a much earlier building,
portions of the chancel and the east window being Decorated. It
consists of a chancel, nave, and west embattled tower. The
architecture is very simple, but the interior, the walls of which
were originally covered with paintings in distemper, is much en-
cumbered by a heavy gallery, and the Shelley pew. In the
chancel are a piscina, and three iron grave-slabs, one of which is
dated 1667. There are more recent records of the names of
Michell, Kidder, &. The tower contains six modern bells. The
north porch, removed some years since from its original position,
has some bold oak carving.

The seats in the parish are of no great antiquity. The prin-
cipal is Maresfield Park. The house, which was called “The
Cross,” was the residence of the Newnham family, from whom
it came to Sir John Shelley, father of the late 8ir John Villiers
Shelley, Bart., formerly M.P. for Westminster. Sir John Shelley
having inherited the estate through his mother, Wilhelmina,
daughter and heiress of John Newnham, Esq., added to the old
house, and made it a competent residence. Itincludes a library,
sixty feet in length. The family of De Newenham is of great
antiquity in the district, as appears from documents of temp.
Edward III., and earlier. Another house, upon a larger scale,
is Twyford Lodge, near Stumbletts, before mentioned. It was
built by the late General Sewell, who inherited the estate from his
uncle, William Sewell, Esq., one of the six Clerks in Chancery.
In the 17th century, William Newnham, Esq., purchased a large
tract of Ashdown Forest, called Pippingford, which he enclosed
and partially planted. It subsequently passed, by sale, first to
Villiam Bradford, Esq., and then to Henry Shirley, Esq. The
latter made large additions to the house, which was burnt down
in 1836. The estate subsequently became the property of John
Mortimer, Esq., who built a spacious house, which commands
extensive views over the adjacent wild and romantic scenery.
Forest Lodge is another modern house, the residence of Captain
William Noble ; and Twyford Abbey is that of Robert Trotter,
Esq. The only two houses of considerable antiquity are, 1st,
“The Park,” now a farm house, with few ancient features. This
was the residence in the 16th and 17th centuries of the family of
Rootes, or Rutes, a name of frequent occurrence in this district.
Originally it possessed a well-timbered park. The present Mares-
field Park, then, is a modern substitution for ¢ The Cross.” The
lands, with the advowson of the church, formed part of the
estate of Viscount Gage, until 1850, when they were purchased
by Sir J. V. Shelley. 2nd, “Mar